Contributors

Morris, F. O. 1810-1893.

Publication/Creation

London : G. Bell and sons, 1875.

Persistent URL

https://wellcomecollection.org/works/gcq9e5ds

License and attribution

This work has been identified as being free of known restrictions under copyright law, including all related and neighbouring rights and is being made available under the Creative Commons, Public Domain Mark.

You can copy, modify, distribute and perform the work, even for commercial purposes, without asking permission.



Wellcome Collection 183 Euston Road London NW1 2BE UK T +44 (0)20 7611 8722 E library@wellcomecollection.org https://wellcomecollection.org













NATURAL HISTORY

OF THE

NESTS AND EGGS

OF

BRITISH BIRDS.

BY

THE REV. F. O. MORRIS, B.A.,

MEMBER OF THE ASHMOLEAN SOCIETY.

SECOND EDITION.

VOLUME II.

LONDON:

GEORGE BELL AND SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN. M DOOD LXXV.

[This ed orig publ. hondon: Bell & Daldy, 1871]

WELLCOME INSTITUTE LIBRARY					
Coll.	weiMOmec				
Call					
No.	QL				
	1871				
1.1	A FIRE ALL				

CONTENTS OF THE SECOND VOLUME.

			PAGE.		
Chaffinch			1		
Mountain Finch .			3		
Tree Sparrow .			5		
Sparrow			7		
Greenfinch			9		
Hawfinch			11		
Goldfinch			13		
Siskin			15		
Linnet			17		
Redpole			19		
Mealy Redpole .			21		
Twite			22		
Bullfinch			23		
Pine Grossbeak			25		
Crossbill			26		
Parrot Crossbill			27		
American White-winged Cross-					
bill			29		
Rose-coloured Pastor			31		
Starling			33		
Red-winged Starling			34		
Dipper			35		
Missel Thrush .			37		
Fieldfare			39		
Redwing			41		
Thrush			43		
White's Thrush .			45		
Rock Thrush			46		
Blackbird			47		
Ring Ouzel			49		
Golden Oriole .			51		
Alpine Accentor .			53		

1			PAGE.
Dunnock			55
Redbreast			57
Bluebreast			61
Redstart			63
Blackstart			65
Stonechat			67
Whinchat			69
Wheatear			71
Grasshopper Warbler .			72
Savi's Warbler			73
Sedge Warbler			75
Reed Warbler			77
Nightingale		۰.	79
Thrush Nightingale .			81
Great Sedge Warbler .			83
Blackcap			85
Orphean Warbler			87
Garden Warbler .			89
Whitethroat			91
Lesser Whitethroat .			93
Wood Warbler			95
Willow Warbler .			97
Melodious Willow Warb	ler		99
Chiff Chaff			101
Dartford Warbler			103
Wren			105
Goldcrest			107
Firecrest			109
Wood Pigeon			111
Stock Dove			113
Rock Dove			115
Turtle Dove			116

CONTENTS.

			PAGE.
Passenger Pigeon .			117
Pheasant	۰,		119
Capercaillie			121
Black Grouse .			123
Red Grouse			125
Ptarmigan			127
Partridge			129
Red-legged Partridge			131
Barbary Partridge			133
Virginian Partridge			135
Quail			137
Andalusian Quail			139
Great Bustard .			141

			PAGE.
Little Bustard .	· .		143
Pratincole .			145
Great Plover .			147
Golden Plover			149
Dotterel			151
Ringed Dotterel			153
Little Ringed Dott	terel		155
Kentish Dotterel			. 156
Grey Plover .			157
Peewit			159
Turnstone			161
Oyster-catcher			. 163

NESTS AND EGGS

OF

BRITISH BIRDS.

CHAFFINCH.

SHILFA. SCOBBY. SHELLY. SKELLY. SHELL-APPLE. BEECH-FINCH. TWINK. SPINK. PINK. TWEET. HORSE-FINCH.

PLATE LXXX.

Fringilla cælebs,

PENNANT. MONTAGU. BEWICK.

THE nest is truly a beautiful piece of workmanship, compact and neat in the highest degree. It is usually so well adapted to the colour of the place where it is built, as to elude detection from any chance passer by—close scrutiny is required to discover it. It is therefore variously made, according to the nature of the elements of construction at hand. Some are built of grasses, stalks of plants, and small roots, compacted with the scales of bark and wool, and lined with hair, with perhaps a few feathers, the outside being entirely covered with tree moss and lichens, taken from the tree itself in which it is placed; the assimilation being thus rendered complete. Others are without any wool, its place being supplied with thistle-down, and spidercots. In fact the bird accommodates itself to circumstances, or rather circumstances to its requirements, using such materials as are

VOL. II.

CHAFFINCH.

at hand. The upper edge of the nest is generally very neatly woven with slender straws, and the width of the open part is often not more than an inch and a half, but usually an inch and three quarters; the whole is firmly fixed between the branches; to which some of its component parts are attached for the purpose.

In the neighbourhood of Belfast, where there are 'branches' of the cotton manufacture, these birds use that material in the construction of their nests; and in answer to the objection that its conspicuous colour would betray the presence of the nest, and not accord with the theory that birds assimilate the outward appearance of their structures to surrounding objects, it was replied, says Mr. Thompson, that, on the contrary, the use of cotton in that locality might rather be considered as rendering the nest more difficult of detection, as the roadside hedges and neighbouring trees are always dotted with tufts of it.

The eggs are four or five in number, of a short oval form, and of a dull bluish green colour, clouded with dull red, often blended together into one tint. They are slightly streaked, and somewhat spotted irregularly over their whole surface with dark dull well-defined red spots. Some have been found of a uniform dull blue, without any spots. N. Rowe, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, tells me of two he had which were quite round, the ground colour very pale blue, with three or four round black spots scattered over the surface.

W. Bridger, Esq., has obligingly forwarded the nest, and the Rev. R. P. Alington a drawing of the nest, which, though neither of them have had to be made use of, I am equally obliged for.





MOUNTAIN FINCH.

BRAMBLING. BRAMBLE FINCH. LULEAN FINCH.

PLATE LXXXI.

Fringilla montifringilla, " Lulensis, PENNANT. MONTAGU. GMELIN.

. ~

THE nest is placed in lofty fir and other trees, is formed of moss, and lined with wool and feathers. R. Dashwood, Esq., of Beccles, Suffolk, had these birds lay in two instances, in the year 1839, and in the latter the eggs were hatched. His aviary is a large one, enclosing a considerable space of ground, and is surrounded with ivy, and planted inside with shrubs. If birds are to be kept in confinement at all, some such place is the only one in which they should be confined. The nest having been completed four days, the first egg was laid on the 16th. of June, in the above-named year, and another was laid each day till the 21st., when they were removed. The nest was composed of moss, wool, and dry grass, and lined with hair; and these materials were selected from a variety which the birds had the option of making use of. The foundations, which were large, were worked in among the stalks of the ivy leaves.

'In the latter part of July, in the same year,' says Mr. Dashwood, writing to Mr. Hewitson, 'another pair of Bramblings built, placing their nest on the ground, close to a shrub or a tuft of grass. The outside of the nest was made of moss, and it was lined with hair. From this nest I removed four eggs on the 1st. of August; on the 17th. of June, 1840, they laid again, having built in the ivy. This nest I did not disturb, and although the eggs were hatched, they did not succeed in rearing the young ones.'

MOUNTAIN FINCH.

In the 'Account of the Birds found in Norfolk,' the authors mention the following instance, or rather instances, of these birds nesting in confinement, communicated to them by a gentleman residing near Norwich. A pair of Bramblings built a nest in an aviary in the last week in the month of June, 1842, and two eggs were laid, both of which were removed and found to be good. In June, 1843, the same birds again nested, and the female laid two eggs, and these having been removed, they formed a second nest in a different spot in which four eggs were deposited.

The last nest, together with the eggs, was accidentally destroyed, and it was not ascertained whether the eggs laid during the year were good or not.

The eggs are four or five in number, of a pale greyish colour spotted with reddish brown.

The first figure is from an egg laid in the aviary of Mr. Dashwood, of Beccles. The second is from a specimen in the cabinet of J. R. De C. Wise, Esq.





TREE SPARROW.

MOUNTAIN SPARROW.

PLATE LXXXII.

Passer montanus, Pyrgita montana, Fringilla montana, Loxia Hamburgia, Ray. Fleming. Pennant. Montagu. Gmelin.

NIDIFICATION, it would appear, commences in February, and incubation in March, two or three broods being reared in the year.

The nest is formed of hay, and is lined with wool, down, and feathers. It is loosely put together, and the consequence of this untidiness, the larger straws being left hanging carelessly outside, is, that the situation of the nest is betrayed to the prowling bird-nester. The same situation is often again occupied from year to year.

James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, informs me that he has taken the nest of this bird from a Sand Martin's hole, near Buckingham. They build in many various situations, most frequently in a hole of a tree, whence their English name, either that formed naturally by decay, or that in which some other bird, such as the Woodpecker, or one of the species, has previously domiciled; sometimes also in old nests that had been inhabited by Magpies and Crows; and in these cases, the nest, that is of the Tree Sparrow, is domed over, as is done also by the House Sparrow, when it locates its habitation in similar situations. Not unfrequently they build in the thatch of barns and out-houses, but only in thoroughly country places, the entrance being from the outside; also in the tiling of houses, and in stacks and wood faggots; likewise in old walls, not many feet above the ground. Arthur Strickland, Esq., of Bridlington, has recorded that a pair built

TREE SPARROW.

their nest, a domed one, in a hedge in the grounds of Walton Hall.

The eggs, from four to six in number, are of a dull white or grey colour, speckled all over with light greyish brown of different shades.

One fine variety is of a dark rich reddish brown colour, mottled all over.

A second is of a deep yellowish green, likewise mottled all over with darker specks.

A third is marked entirely over with minute grey, yellowish, brown, and bluish dots and small streaks.

A fourth, dull brown, dark all about the base, and all mottled.

The engraving is from specimens taken by W. R. Fisher, Esq., of Yarmouth, from a nest placed in a hole of the stem of an apple tree at that place.





SPARROW.

7

HOUSE SPARROW. COMMON SPARROW.

PLATE LXXXIII.

Passer domesticus, Fringilla domestica, Pyrgita domestica, Selby. Pennant. Montagu. Fleming.

THE nest which is large in size, and very loosely compacted, is usually placed under the eaves of the tiles of houses or other buildings, or in any hole or cavity that will supply it with a convenient receptacle for its brood. It is compiled of hay, straw, wool, moss, or twigs, and a profusion of feathers, which the birds are sometimes seen conveying to their holes even in winter. It often measures as much as six inches in diameter, and sometimes even much more, if the situation demands it. The materials just mentioned, as also any other that may meet the requirements of the bird, are variously disposed and arranged together according to circumstances. Dove-cotes and pigeon-houses are frequently built in, and the same situation is continued to be resorted to, and this even when the young have been exposed to misfortune from rain. It would appear that trees are built in more from necessity than choice, namely, by yearling birds which commence nidification late, by which time convenient places in walls have been pre-occupied; or by individuals which from some cause or other, had been obliged to give up the latter localities. Fewer broods in the year are produced therefore in the case of nests in trees, both from their being commenced later in the season, and from their requiring naturally more time in their construction; they are accordingly better made. Mr. Meyer describes one which was handsomely built of moss, grass, and lichens, and neatly lined with hair. The entrance in these cases is by the side, and the interior is profusely lined with feathers.

SPARROW.

The first set of eggs generally consists of five or six. They are dull light grey, or greyish white, much spotted and streaked all over with ash-colour, and dusky brown, varying much in appearance, though preserving for the most part a general resemblance. They also differ very frequently and very much in size and shape.

One is figured by Professor Thieneman, of a light green colour, mottled with dark green, with which the base is covered.

A second is very pale grey, faintly striated all over with small dots of a shade darker.

A third is nearly white, with a few small grey and brown dots.

A fourth is brown, finely marked all over with deep rich brown.

A fifth is of a whitish ground colour, with a few large irregular blots and several small spots of clear brown.

The lower egg on the plate is from one forwarded by G. Grantham, Esq., of East Shalford, Guildford.





GREENFINCH.

9

GREEN GROSBEAK. GREEN LINNET.

PLATE LXXXIV.

Coccothraustes Chloris, Loxia Chloris, Linaria Chloris, Fringilla Chloris, Fleming. Jardine. Linnæus. Latham. Macgillivray. Temminck.

NIDIFICATION begins generally in April, or even earlier; the work has been known to have been completed by the 26th. of March.

The nest is pretty well compacted, and much more so in some instances than in others. It is composed of small roots, twigs, moss, and straws, and lined with finer materials of the same kinds, mingled, as the case may be, with thistle-down, feathers, and hair: one was once built in the trellis-work near the drawing-room of Nafferton Vicarage, a few yards from that of the Spotted Flycatcher; but though undisturbed, it was not resorted to the following year, as was that of its near neighbour. It is placed in various situations—a low bush, or an evergreen, the ivy against a wall, or between the branches of a tree. Many nests are often found in propinquity to each other in the same shrubbery; more than one sometimes even in the same bush.

The eggs, from four to six, or even seven in number, are of a bluish or purple reddish white, spotted with darker purple, grey, and blackish brown, streaked also in general more or less with black. They differ much in size, shape, and colour; sometimes the whole surface is mottled over, and again, there have been known no markings at all: the smaller end is rather pointed.

Two broods are frequently reared in the season. The young, when fledged, fly off in a body from the nest, if approached. The young of

VOL. II.

GREENFINCH.

the Spotted Flycatcher I have seen do the same, though they had never flown before, on my going to the nest to place a young orphan Greenfinch in it, with a view to its being fed with them as a foster-brother.

These eggs do not vary very materially in colour.

One is a pale grey, spotted with many small light brown spots at the thicker end.

A second is a pale grey, spotted with a few light brown spots all over, chiefly at the larger end.

A third is similarly grounded with pale grey, with a few light brown spots all over, but not so extensively.

The figure of the nest is from a remarkably beautiful specimen taken from an elm tree.





HAWFINCH.

GROSBEAK. COMMON GROSBEAK. BLACK-THROATED GROSBEAK. HAW GROSBEAK.

PLATE LXXXV.

Coccothraustes vulgaris, Loxia coccothraustes, Fringilla coccothraustes, FLEMING. GOULD. LINNÆUS. LATHAM. JENYNS. TEMMINCK.

I HAVE been favoured by St. Aubin Molesworth St. Aubin, Esq., with the nest and egg of this bird, which were taken in the parish of Beenham, in the county of Berks: it is entirely composed of lichens and fine roots. It is frequently placed in a thorn bush, or holly tree, as also in oaks, the horse chesnut, apple, and fir trees of the different species, at a height of twenty-five or thirty feet from the ground, often in a very exposed situation. It is variously made of small twigs, such as those of the oak and honeysuckle, intermixed with fragments of lichens, in greater or less abundance. The lining consists of fine roots, vegetable fibres, and a little hair, with feathers, according to Montagu. It is not firmly compacted, towards which effect perhaps the principal material contributes.

The eggs are from four to six in number, of a pale olive green, spotted with blackish brown, and irregularly streaked with dusky grey; some are much less marked than others, and some are of a uniform pale green.

There do not appear to be any very striking varieties.

One is of a pale greenish grey white, with a few hair-like waved streaks, and a few larger and smaller blackish spots.

A second is grounded with a pale bluish white, with a few large and small black spots, and a few hair streaks.

A third is a pale greenish grey, with a very few hair-like streaks and a few large spots, chiefly towards the broad end.







GOLDFINCH.

GOLDIE. GOLDSPINK. THISTLE-FINCH. KING HARRY. RED-CAP. PROUD-TAIL.

PLATE LXXXVI.

Carduelis elegans, Fringilla carduelis, MACGILLIVRAY. LINNÆUS. LATHAM.

THE nest is placed in orchard and other trees, especially those which are evergreen, in bushes, and in some instances in hedges, and at times as much as thirty feet from the ground: it is composed externally of grass, moss, lichens, small twigs, and roots, or any other appropriate substances. Inside it is elaborately interwoven with wool and hair, lined with the down of willows and various plants, and sometimes a few or more leaves or feathers. It is very neatly finished, and Bolton says is completed in three days. W. Bridger, Esq. has favoured me with a specimen.

The eggs, four or five in number, are bluish white, or pale greyish blue, sometimes tinged with brown, and are slightly spotted with greyish purple and brown, with occasionally a dark streak or two.

Of varieties, one is of a pale grey, with reddish brown spots at the broad end, and a few black ones interspersed.

A second grounded with pale grey, speckled with a few light brown spots, chiefly at the larger end—some of them large and run together; also on one or two darker ones.

A third of a pale grey, marked with pale reddish spots, chiefly at the larger end, and a few brown ones.






SISKIN.

ABERDEVINE.

PLATE LXXXVII.

Carduelis spinus, Fringilla spinus, MACGILLIVRAY. LINNÆUS. LATHAM.

THE nest is placed in trees, at only a short or moderate height from the ground, and is composed of stalks of grass, and small roots and fibres, moss and lichens, lined with hair, rabbits' fur, thistle-down, wool, or a few feathers. Bushes are also occasionally built in.

The eggs are pale greenish white, spotted around the thicker end with purple, and a few brown dots.

Incubation lasts fourteen days; the young are fledged in fifteen more, and are able to leave the nest at the end of the third week.

Thieneman figures the following:-

One of a greenish grey, with a few red spots at the broad end, and a thick black streak.

A second of a very light green, marked with a few small pale yellowish brown spots at the broad end.

A third of a greenish grey, marked with a few small and some larger red spots.

The Siskin has been known to build and breed in confinement. Mr. Hewitson figures an egg which was laid, together with three others, by a hen bird which had been kept three years in a cage.

It appears to nidificate most frequently in North Britain, though instances have also occurred in the extreme south, that is to say, in the neighbourhood of London.







LINNET.

17

BROWN LINNET. COMMON LINNET. GREATER REDPOLE. GREY LINNET. ROSE LINNET. RED-BREASTED LINNET. WHIN LINNET.

PLATE LXXXVIII.

Linaria cannabina, Fringilla cannabina, "Linota, Linota cannabina, MACGILLIVRAY. LINNÆUS. LATHAM. LATHAM. PRINCE OF MUSIGNANO. YARRELL.

THE nest is commonly placed in heath, grass, furze, or gorse, and is neatly constructed, being formed of small twigs and stalks of grass, intermixed with moss and wool, and lined with hair and feathers. It is occasionally placed in a bush or tree, and has been known at a height of ten or twelve feet from the ground. W. Bridger, Esq. has obliged me with a specimen.

The eggs are from four to six in number, of a bluish white colour, spotted, most so at the larger end, with purple grey and reddish brown; some are of a reddish black colour without spots, and some, exceptional ones, have been known pure white.

One variety is of a very light greenish grey, with very small pale red spots all over it.

A second is of a pale greenish grey, handsomely marked with red spots at the thicker end, and two or three other black spots.

A third is also pale greenish grey, mottled all over with larger pale red spots, most numerous at the larger end.

D







REDPOLE.

LESSER REDPOLE. LESSER REDPOLE LINNET.

PLATE LXXXIX.

Linaria minor, Fringilla linaria, " linaria, Spinus linaria, Linota linaria, Fringilla rufescens, Linaria flavirostris, " alnorum, " rubra, " betularum,

LINNÆUS. LATHAM. KEVS, ETC. KOCK. BUONAPARTE. VIELLOT. EYTON. BREHM. STEPHENS. BREHM.

MACGILLIVRAY.

THE nest is built in a low bush or tree, such as an alder, hawthorn, hazel, or willow, or in heather, and is fabricated of moss, stems of grass, and willow catkins, the latter being also used for the lining, as likewise feathers.

This species lays from four to six eggs: their colour is pale bluish green, spotted with orange brown, principally towards the larger end, with sometimes a few thin streaks of a darker colour—brown or black.

One is of a greenish grey, speckled with a few rusty brown spots, most so at the base.

A second is of a greenish grey, speckled with red spots all over, chiefly at the larger end.

A third is of a darker bluish green, spotted with a few pale reddish spots.

REDPOLE.

The nest is figured from a specimen which was taken on the 6th. of June, in the year 1853, in the neighbourhood of Driffield. It is made of the usual materials, as mentioned in the description. It contained three eggs, from one of which the engraving was drawn.





MEALY REDPOLE.

STONY REDPOLE. LESSER REDPOLE. LESSER REDPOLE LINNET.

PLATE XC .- FIG. I.

Linaria canescens, " borealis, " minor, Fringilla borealis, GOULD. Selby. Selby. Temminck.

THE egg is described by Meyer as being pale greenish blue, sprinkled over with pale but distinct spots of a reddish brown colour, some of them inclining to lilac, chiefly confined to a zone around the larger end.

TWITE.

MOUNTAIN LINNET.

PLATE XC .- FIG. II.

Linaria montana, Fringilla flavirostris, SELBY. LINNÆUS.

THE nest is built on the ground, chiefly in heath or among gorse, and but seldom, if ever, in bushes. It is formed of small roots, heather, moss, and dry grass, and is lined with a small quantity of hair or wool, and a few feathers.

The eggs, four, five, six, or seven in number, are of a pale greenish or bluish white, spotted with reddish brown, or light brown and purple red towards the larger end, with sometimes a few blackish dots.





BULLFINCH.

NOPE. POPE. ALP. HOOP. COMMON BULLFINCH.

PLATE XCI.

Loxia pyrrhula, Pyrrhula vulgaris, PENNANT. MONTAGU. FLEMING. SELBY.

TOWARDS the end of April the birds pair, and nidification is commenced in the beginning of May, and is finished by the end of that month, or the beginning of June.

The nest is formed of small twigs, and is lined with small roots, the whole being not firmly compacted: in some instances moss is added. It is generally placed either in a tree, such as a fir, or in the middle of a bush, frequently a hawthorn, at a height of four or five feet from the ground. It is often built in a shrubbery, even near a house, and occasionally, though but seldom, in a garden.

The eggs, four or five in number, are pale blue, speckled and streaked with purple grey, and dark purple. They are hatched towards the end of May, after an incubation of fifteen days. The male takes his turn in sitting with the female. The latter sits very closely, though she is in general easily frightened away. The male is less so, but it is said that if he be disturbed the nest is almost always deserted, which is not the case when the female is alarmed. William Henry Rudston Read, Esq., of Hayton and York, has recorded in the 'Naturalist,' old series, that, when resident at Frickley Hall, near Doncaster, a hen bird which built in a laurel near the house suffered herself to be touched while sitting on her young ones, and would feed from the hand without the least fear. The birds are supposed to pair for life; the members of the family keep together until the spring.

BULLFINCH.

One is of a pale bluish green, marked with a few very small and one or two large brown spots.

A second is grounded with pale bluish green, thickly marked with large and small spots about the larger end.

A third is of a pale bluish green grey, speckled with a few brown spots.





PINE GROSSBEAK.

25

PINE BULLFINCH. COMMON HAWFINCH.

PLATE XCII.-FIG. I.

Loxia enucleator, Corythus enucleator, Pyrrhula enucleator, Pennant. Montagu. Fleming. Selby. Jenyns.

THE nest is made of small sticks, and is lined with feathers. It is usually placed on the branch of a tree, only a few feet above the ground. The eggs are said to be four or five in number, and white. The young are described as being hatched in June.

The plate is taken from one figured by Professor Thieneman. It will at once be seen that it does not agree with the description given by others.

CROSSBILL.

COMMON CROSSBILL. EUROPEAN CROSSBILL. SHEL-APPLE.

PLATE XCII.-FIG. II.

Loxia curvirostra,

LINNÆUS. LATHAM.

NIDIFICATION commences very early in foreign countries, even in January or February, the young having been found fledged in March.

The nest is placed in the angle of the junction of the branches to the tree, low down and also high up; and is loosely compacted of small twigs, grass, small straws, and moss, lined on the inside with the dry leaves of the fir tree, and also with feathers.

The eggs are white, sometimes tinged with blue or green, and spotted, chiefly at the thicker end, with reddish, bluish red, purple, or brown.

One is of a very light shade of greenish grey, with one or two large red spots, and a few small ones.

A second is of a very light bluish grey, with several red spots at the thicker end, and a few others.

A third is grounded with very light brown, with waved yellowish red streaks, chiefly at the broad end.

J. R. Wise, Esq. has favoured me with a specimen for the use of this work.





PARROT CROSSBILL.

PLATE XCIII.

Loxia	pityopsittacus,		BEWICK.	FLEMING.	
"	curvirostra major,	(as a variety,)	GMELIN.	LATHAM.	

THE nest is placed chiefly in lofty forest trees, and is composed of small twigs, lined with dry grass or leaves of the fir tree.

The eggs are said to be four or five in number, ash-coloured, or bluish white, and spotted with bluish red and dusky at the larger end.

One is grounded with very pale bluish grey with a few small red spots, chiefly about the larger end.

A second is also of a very light pale bluish grey, with a band of bright red spots at the broad end, and a few others scattered about.

The young are hatched after a fortnight's incubation.







AMERICAN WHITE-WINGED CROSSBILL.

PLATE XCIV.

Loxia leucoptera, " falcirostra, GMELIN. BUONAPARTE. PENNANT. FLEMING.

THE nest is said to be placed on the branches of pine trees, and to be composed of grasses cemented together with earth and lined with feathers.

The eggs are described as white, marked with yellowish spots.

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has forwarded me a specimen believed to be of this bird.







ROSE-COLOURED PASTOR.

ROSE OUZEL. ROSE-COLOURED OUZEL. ROSE-COLOURED STARLING.

PLATE XCV.

Pastor roseus, Turdus roseus,

FLEMING. SELBY. PENNANT. MONTAGU.

THE nest is located in holes of trees and in cavities in old walls.

The eggs are five or six in number, and are said by the Hon. Thomas Littleton Powis, on the authority of Mr. Linder, of Geneva, to be white, resembling those of the Starling.

W. F. W. Bird, Esq., has obligingly forwarded me a drawing of one from the collection of the Right Honourable the Lord Garvagh; and J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq. a specimen.

31






STARLING.

STARE. COMMON STARLING. COMMON STARE. SOLITARY THRUSH, (THE YOUNG.)

PLATE XCVI .- FIG. I.

Sturnus vulgaris,

PENNANT. MONTAGU.

F

THE nest is large, and fabricated of straws, roots, portions of plants, and dry grass, with a rude lining of feathers and hair. The birds will sometimes resort most pertinaciously to the same building-place, in spite of every opposition, discouragement, and blockade. In one instance the eggs have been said to have been found in the nest of a Magpie.

The eggs, four or five to six in number, are of a delicate pale blue colour: some have a few black dots. R. J. Davidson, Esq., of Muirhouse, informs me of a nest of five perfectly white eggs, which he found in a hollow tree at Dedham, in Essex, in 1862.

Incubation lasts about sixteen days: both birds feed the young.

J. R. Fisher, Esq. states that Mr. Gurney told him of a Starling, the young of which, having been taken from the nest and placed in a cage which was hung upon a wall, were discovered and fed by the old bird until they were able to fly, at which time, and not before, she unfastened the door of the cage and let them out.

RED-WINGED STARLING.

RED-WINGED BLACKBIRD. RED-WINGED MAIZE-BIRD. MARSH BLACKBIRD. SWAMP BLACKBIRD. CORN THIEF.

PLATE XCVI .- FIG. II.

Sturnus prædatorius, Icterus phænicurus, LUBBOCK. WILSON. BUONAPARTE.

ABOUT the middle of April the birds pair, and nidification commences the last week in April, or the beginning of May, or even later, according to the latitude in which they happen to be.

The nest is placed variously in a bush or tree, a few feet from the ground, or in a tussock of rushes or tuft of grass, or even, and not unfrequently, on the ground. It is composed of rushes and long tough grass, and lined with finer portions of the latter; the rushes are interlaced among the surrounding twigs, if in a tree, or among the rushes, if on the ground, in which latter case the whole structure is less elaborate than in the former. Several nests are often built in the immediate neighbourhood to each other.

The eggs, about five in number, are of a pale bluish white colour, encircled at the larger end with spots and streaks of dark reddish brown, with a few others scattered here and there, and some faint blots of purple grey and lines and dashes of black.

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq. has forwarded me a specimen, presented to him by Audubon.





DIPPER.

COMMON DIPPER.

EUROPEAN DIPPER. WAT

WATER OUZEL. WATER CROW.

PLATE XCVII.

Cinclus aquaticus, Turdus cinclus, Sturnus cinclus, Fleming. Selby. Pennant. Montagu.

NIDIFICATION begins about the middle of April.

The nest, which is cleverly concealed, and large, measuring ten or twelve inches in diameter, and seven or eight in depth, being domed, is well compacted of moss and grass, and well lined with leaves. It is placed in some cavity in a rock, or under the protection of some overhanging stone in the immediate neighbourhood of the rippling stream or murmuring waterfall, the birds' favourite haunt. Different specimens however vary in size as well as shape, adapted doubtless to the circumstances of the spot they are placed in, some being a couple of inches less than the size just spoken of. The aperture is in front, from three to four inches in width, and about one and a half in height. Mr. Macgillivray mentions one, described to him by Thomas Durham Weir, Esq., which was built in an angle between two fragments of rocks under a small cascade, and although the water fell upon part of the dome, the compactness with which it was put together rendered it impenetrable.

The birds are strongly attached to their accustomed building-place, and one pair, or at least a pair, have been known to occupy the same haunt for thirty-one years, rearing three broods in the year, and four young ones to each brood.

The eggs, from four to six in number, are white, and of a regular oval form.







MISSEL THRUSH.

PENN Y LLWIN, OF THE ANCIENT BRITISH.

MISSELTOE THRUSH. STORM-COCK. MISSEL-BIRD. SHRITE. SHRIKE-COCK. HOLM THRUSH.

PLATE XCVIII.

Turdus viscivorus, Merula viscivora, LINNÆUS. LATHAM. SELBY.

THE nest, which is a loose structure, is a compilation of twigs, small sticks, straws, grasses, leaves, lichens, wool, or mosses, compacted inwardly with mud, mixed with grasses and small roots, and lined with finer grasses, roots, and moss, frequently with grass alone; sometimes the outside is partly covered with lichens and mosses. The width is about four inches and a half, the depth two and three fourths, and the thickness of the sides an inch and three quarters. Mr. Hewitson mentions one nest of which the foundation was of mud, strongly cemented to, and nearly encircling the branches between which it was fixed. It is often placed in very exposed situations in the hollow caused by the divergence of the branches from the trunk, at a height of ten or fifteen feet from the ground, but nevertheless the erection of it has often not been observed until after it has been fully completed. In 1848 one was taken on a high bough of a large elm at Swanscombe, in Kent, as Mr. M. C. Cooke has informed me. W. Bridger, Esq. has obligingly forwarded a nest.

Shy, too, as the bird is at other times, in its nidification it is not deterred from any appropriate situation by the near propinquity of a house, even where persons are constantly passing and repassing. This has been noticed in repeated instances, and has occurred close to my

MISSEL THRUSH.

own residence of Nafferton Vicarage, within a dozen yards of the house, and with hardly any attempt at concealment. The same tree will be often returned to year after year, if the birds be undisturbed; and Frederick Bond, Esq., of Kingsbury, has known the same nest used twice in the same season. They will suffer other species to build near to them, so close as within a foot distance, and that without any molestation even during the time of incubation, when to those who casually approach their nest they display unqualified hostility.

The eggs are from three or four to five in number, of a greenish or reddish white colour, spotted irregularly with reddish brown or purple red: they vary in size as well as in colour.

One is of a pale dull green, marked with some large reddish brown spots, and a few others of the same, chiefly about the base.

A second is of a dull yellowish brown, spotted with dull red spots, and a few others, chiefly of dull yellow and dull pink.

A third is of a pale dull yellowish white, speckled with small pale brown and pale yellowish brown spots all over.

A fourth is of a pale dull brownish green, marked with dark brownish and yellowish spots chiefly at the smaller end.

A fifth is of a rather dull blue with some blots of pale brownish red. A sixth is pale dull pinkish white with brown and red round spots all over.





FIELDFARE.

FELDFARE. FELT. FELTFARE. BLUE-BACK. BLUE-TAIL. BLUE-FELT.

PLATE XCIX.

Turdus pilaris,

LINNÆUS. LATHAM.

FIELDFARES build in societies, as many as two hundred nests and upwards having been found within a small circuit of the forest. The same situations appear to be resorted to from year to year from some cause of predilection or other, as with the Rooks.

The nest, which is placed in pine or fir trees, at a height of from four to forty feet from the ground, is made of small sticks, grass, and weeds, cemented together with a small quantity of clay, and lined with fine grass. It is for the most part placed against the trunk of the tree, but sometimes at a considerable distance from it, towards the smaller end of the thicker branches.

The hurried flight and loud harsh cries of the owners, if alarmed, readily lead to their discovery.

The eggs are from three to five or six in number, of a pale bluish green, spotted with dark reddish brown. 'They are all sometimes so closely freckled over that the colour of the freckles predominates; they all have a variety in which the ground colour is most seen, the redbrown spots being larger and much more sparingly sprinkled.'

Unfinished nests have been found, and others with newly-laid eggs in them, so late as the 30th. of May.

The ground part of one is dark grey, speckled with lighter and darker yellowish red spots all over.

A second is bluish green, with light reddish brown spots mingled together, chiefly at the broad end.

A third is grey, spotted all over with larger and smaller dull yellowish red spots.







REDWING.

SWINEPIPE. WIND THRUSH.

PLATE C.

Turdus Iliacus, Merula Iliaca, LINNÆUS. JARDINE. SELBY.

THE nest is placed in the centre of a thorn or other bush, alder, birch, or other tree, and is made of moss, roots, and dry grass outwardly, cemented together with clay, and lined inwardly with finer grass.

Mr. Wolley says that this bird 'makes its nest near the ground, in an open part of the wood, generally in the outskirts, on a stump, a log, or the roots of a fallen tree; sometimes amongst a cluster of young stems of the birch, usually quite exposed, so as almost to seem as if placed so purposely—the walls often supported only by their foundation. The first or coarse part of the nest is made for the most part of dried bents, sometimes with fine twigs and moss; this is lined with a thin layer of dirt, and then is added a thick bed of fine grass of the previous year, compactly woven together, which completes the structure. Outside is often a good deal of the kind of lichen called rein-deer moss, and one nest particularly, which I have preserved, is entirely covered with it; when it was fresh, and the fine ramifications of the lichen unbroken, it had a most beautiful appearance.'

The eggs are said to be found in June, and to be towards six in number; they are of a pale bluish green, spotted with reddish brown. J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has obligingly forwarded specimens of the nest and eggs.

One variety is of a pale yellowish red, with a very few small brownish red spots.

A second is grounded with light green, handsomely marked with waves and spots of pale brownish red.

A third is of a dull green, intermingled with dull reddish brown. VOL. II. G







THRUSH.

THROSTLE. SONG THRUSH. COMMON THRUSH. MAVIS.

PLATE CI.

Turdus musicus, Merula musica, Pennant. Montagu. Selby.

NIDIFICATION commences the latter end of March, and the eggs are deposited earlier or later in April, though sometimes not until May, according to the season. Nests have been known to have been begun even so early as the middle of February, but frost caused them to be deserted. The birds are correspondingly able to fly from the latter end of April to the middle of June, and have been known to have been hatched even on the last day of March. Mrs. Harriet Murchison, of Bicester, Oxfordshire, has forwarded me a specimen of a nest with four eggs, which was found at that place on the 6th. of January, 1853. A second brood is generally reared in the season, and if one set of eggs is destroyed, a second is produced in a fortnight, or even a third if need be. The female is extremely attentive to her charge, and will sit on the nest until quite closely approached, and will sometimes suffer herself to be taken sooner than forsake it. If you disturb and alarm her, she will testify her anxiety by flying round you with ruffled feathers and outspread tail, uttering a note of alarm, and violently snapping the bill. If unmolested, both birds have been known to pick up crumbs of bread thrown down to them, and to give them to their young.

The nest is composed of moss, small twigs, straws, leaves, roots, stems of plants, and grass, compacted together with some tenacious substance with tolerable ingenuity, and is lined with a congeries of clay and decayed wood. It is placed in a hedge or thick bush of any kind at a small height from the ground, and likewise at times on a rough bank among moss, brambles, or shrubs, as also, where the country is unwooded, under the shelter of some projecting stone or crag, in the crevice of a rock, or in a tuft of heath.

Mr. John H. Blundell, of Luton, Bedfordshire, informs me that he has found the nest of a Thrush in the side of a round wheat stack. The Rev. W. Waldo Cooper, of West Rasen, Lincolnshire, records in the 'Zoologist,' page 1775, that he has found one on the ground, three feet from the nearest bush; and at page 1023, John Barlow, Esq. relates a similar instance.

The eggs, usually four or five in number, are of a beautiful clear greenish blue colour, with more or fewer distinct black spots and dots, principally over the larger end. The youngest of my three boys, Marmaduke Charles Frederick Morris, has one entirely plain, with the exception of a single dot. N. Rowe, Esq., of Worcester College, has taken the eggs of a uniform blue, without any spots or specks; and J. R. Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has another of the same variety. James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has forwarded me another—they seem to be not very uncommon. They vary considerably in size: some are very small.





WHITE'S THRUSH.

PLATE CII.-FIG. I.

Turdus Whitei,

EYTON. GOULD. YARRELL.

J. R. DE CAPEL WISE, ESQ. has sent me a specimen of an egg, believed to be of this species; and which is accordingly figured in the plate.

ROCK THRUSH.

PLATE CII .- FIG. II.

Turdus saxatilis, Petrocincla saxatilis, TEMMINCK. VIGORS. GOULD.

THE nest is said to be made of moss. It is placed in crevices of rocks, whether those which have fallen down from their primeval resting-place, or those that still abide in the place of their hoar antiquity.

The eggs are described as being four or thereabouts in number, and of a greenish blue colour, without spots.

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has forwarded me an egg, and Edwin Cottingham, Esq. drawings of two specimens, copied from the original eggs in the museum of J. Malcolm, Esq., Lamorbey, Halfway-Street, near Bexley, Kent, by his permission. These eggs have a beautiful glossy shell, and each of them a clear uniform tint of colour without spots or marks of any kind; the lightest coloured variety is a trifle larger than the darkest, and not so pure and positive in colour, being of a neutral tone between a light grey and a very slight approach to a light bluish green.





BLACKBIRD.

PLATE CIII.

Turdus merula, Merula vulgaris, PENNANT. MONTAGU. Selby. Gould.

THIS species pairs in February or March, but occasionally much earlier. Thus in the 'Yorkshire Gazette' of the 8th. of January, 1853, it is recorded that a nest with two eggs was found at Brompton, in this county, on the 3rd. of that month, by D. Ferguson, Esq., of Redcar.

The nest is placed in a variety of situations, and is frequently found in a heap of sticks, even though placed in an outhouse, or most commonly in a bush; sometimes in a tree against a wall, or in a tree or wall covered with ivy; an instance has been known of its being placed on the stump of a tree, close to the ground, and Sir William Jardine found one on the ground, at the foot of a tree; another was also seen in a similar situation, at the foot of a hazel bush, in a wood, by my friend the Rev. W. Waldo Cooper, of West Rasen, Lincolnshire: in the same wood he saw another on the stump of a hazel which had been cut down, and from which several stems had grown; it was not raised an inch from the ground, but was quite surrounded by the new branches. Another on the ground has been recorded in the 'Zoologist,' page 1023, by W. W. Spicer, Esq. Mr. John H. Blundell, of Luton, Bedfordshire, has written me word of his having found the nest in one instance on the ground, in the middle of a large plantation of oaks. It is often put in a hedge, and is commonly built at a height of three or four feet; also in a hole in a wall or rock. In some instances it has been known, when placed in or against the branch of a tree, to be in some degree fastened to it by a twining and lacing of the larger of the materials of which it is composed, and in one case, the space between the branch of a tree, on which one was placed, and a wall, was filled up with straw and hay. It is made of roots, small twigs, and stalks of grass, with perhaps some lichens or fern, and is covered

BLACKBIRD.

on the inside with mud, and lined with finer parts of the other materials and grass; it is sometimes most admirably hidden in a hollow in a bank, so as almost to baffle detection. It is at times placed on the top of a fence or the summit of a wall. The same situation is occasionally resorted to from year to year. N. Rowe, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, writes me word of a pair of Blackbirds which built their nest in the same spot in a laurel tree that had been previously tenanted the same year by a pair of Greenfinches, who in their turn had succeeded a pair of Thrushes. The female sits for thirteen days.

The eggs are commonly five in number, sometimes four, and sometimes, though but rarely, six; they are of a dull light blue or greenish brown colour, mottled and spotted with pale reddish brown, the markings being closer at the larger end, where they sometimes form an obscure ring. Mr. Hewitson, in his 'Coloured Illustrations of the Eggs of British Birds,' figures one elegantly covered over at the larger end with minute reddish brown specks, and likewise, but less thickly, over the remainder-the green shewing through; and a second curiously marbled with irregular dashes and specks of reddish brown over the green colour. Another variety is similar to the last, except that the ground colour is lighter, and the spots smaller. Another, in his possession, clear spotless light blue, with the whole of the larger end suffused with reddish brown. J. B. Ellman, Esq., of Battel, relates in the 'Zoologist,' page 2180, that he had an egg in which the spots were at the smaller end. Some of the eggs are much larger than others, and they also vary much in colour and markings, as also in shape, some being much more round, and others much more oval, than others: in some instances the smaller end is rounded and obtuse.

One is grounded with light green, marked with small faint pale yellowish red streak-like spots all over.

A second is of a dark dull brownish green, spotted with yellowish red spots.

A third is green, with rather large brown spots all over.

A fourth is of a pale green.

A fifth is of a greyish white, with yellowish marbled indistinct spots all over.

A sixth is grounded with grey, mottled all over with green.

A seventh is of a dull bluish white, with a few light yellowish brown spots and dots.

James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has forwarded me two good varieties, one of very small size, and the other light clear greenish blue, like a Starling's.





RING OUZEL.

ROCK OUZEL. RING THRUSH. MOUNTAIN BLACKBIRD. MOOR BLACKBIRD.

PLATE CIV.

Turdus torquatus, Merula torquata, Pennant. Montagu. Selby. Gould.

THE nest is built among the heather upon a ledge or in some hollow of a rock. It is hidden more or less by a tuft of heath, the root of a tree, or a projection of the rock on which it is placed: those found in the more southerly counties were placed at a height of about five or six feet from the ground, in such a situation as a yew tree, or ivy-clad elm. It is composed of dried grasses, heather, stems, or stalks, thickly matted together, with here and there an occasional leaf; on the inside it is lined, according to some, with mud, within which again is another lining of similar materials to those of which the outside is compacted.

The eggs are pale greenish blue, sparingly freckled with pale purple and reddish brown markings, except at the larger end, where those obscurations are confluent, and entirely conceal the ground colour. They are four or five in number, sometimes, it is said, six.

The plate is from an egg sent to W. R. Fisher, Esq., by Mr. Heysham.






GOLDEN ORIOLE.

PLATE CV.

Oriolus galbula,

PENNANT. MONTAGU. BEWICK.

THE nest is flat in shape, and is placed in the angle formed by the branching boughs of a tall tree, to which it is firmly attached. It is made of stalks of grass, small roots, and wool, cleverly interwoven together, and is lined with the finer portions of the materials. One taken in Kent, is described by J. B. Ellman, Esq., of Rye, in the 'Zoologist,' page 2496, as having been suspended from the extreme end of the topmost bough of an oak tree, and composed entirely of wool, carefully bound together with dried grass.

The eggs are commonly four or five in number, of a white colour, sometimes with a tinge of purple, and a few spots of black, brownish black, or grey, and claret-colour.

One of a greyish white, speckled with small brown spots.

A second is also whitish, with large dark brown spots.

A third is also grounded with pale white, with some small and large spots all over,

Edwin Cottingham, Esq., of Bexley, has obliged me with a drawing of the egg; and Henry Saxby, Esq., of Bonchurch, Isle of Wight, with another. J. R. Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, with a specimen of the egg itself.







ALPINE ACCENTOR.

ALPINE WARBLER.

COLLARED STARE.

PLATE CVI.

Accentor alpinus, Motacilla alpina, Sturnus collaris, " moritanicus, Fleming. Selby. Gmelin. Gmelin. Latham. Gmelin. Latham.

THE nest is placed among stones, or in some cavity or crevice of the mountain rock, and likewise at times, it is said, on the roofs of houses in such situations, as also under the shelter of the alpine rose or other low bush. It is made of moss and fine grass, and is lined with wool and hair.

The eggs, four or five in number, are of a beautiful light greenish blue colour. There are said to be two broods in the year.

W. F. W. Bird, Esq. has kindly forwarded me a drawing of the egg, from one in the fine collection of the Right Honourable Lord Garvagh.







DUNNOCK.

SHUFFLE-WING. HEDGE-SPARROW. HEDGE-WARBLER. WINTER FAUVETTE.

PLATE CVII.

Accentor modularis, Motacilla modularis, Sylvia modularis, Curruca sepiaria, Jenyns. Linnæus. Latham. Brisson.

THE nest is generally placed in hedges, low furze or other bushes, or shrubs, a few feet from the ground, but also in lack of these, in holes of walls, stacks of wood, in the ivy against a wall; and other similar places. The Rev. Charles Forge, of Driffield, records in the 'Zoologist,' pages 658-9, that he found one among the small branches of an elm tree, standing apart from any hedge. It was placed close to the bole or trunk of the tree, at about ten feet from the ground. Exteriorly, it was composed of wheat straw, intermingled with small recently-dead twigs of the elm, to which the dried leaves were still attached. It had no other lining than the green moss commonly used by the Hedge-Chanter in the construction of its nest, and contained a single egg. One has been known built on a disused garden roller. An outhouse is sometimes made use of for the purpose.

It is deep and well rounded, and from four and a half to five inches in diameter on the outside, and nearly two inches deep. It is made of small twigs and grass, lined with moss and then with hair, grass, wool, or down, or any appropriate substances at hand.

The eggs, which are sometimes seen so early as the beginning of April, are four or five, rarely six, though sometimes it is said, seven, in number, and of a very elegant greenish blue colour, with a rather glossy surface. Archibald Hepburn, Esq., records in the 'Zoologist,' page 434, his having seen an egg of this species, which was thrown out of the nest by the parents, and was of a bluish white colour, mottled and speckled with light brown; it was much rounder than the usual shape, and was empty inside.

Incubation lasts eleven days, and two broods are often reared in the year; preparations for one being made about the middle of March, and for the latter at the beginning of May: three are sometimes hatched. Meyer, in his 'British Birds,' mentions his having seen a nest on the 21st. of January, and that he found one with a newly-laid egg in it on the 22nd. of July. The same situation is frequently resorted to from year to year.





REDBREAST.

ROBIN.

ROBIN REDBREAST.

RUDDOCK. ROBINET.

PLATE CVIII.

Sylvia rubecula, Motacilla rubecula, Erythaca rubecula, PENNANT. FLEMING. MONTAGU. BEWICK. SELBY. GOULD.

NIDIFICATION commences very early in the spring, and the eggs are usually laid about the beginning of April; but young birds have often been found in the nest by the end of March. In backward seasons they are usually later. Mr. Macgillivray mentions one seen on the 9th. of May, 1831, and another on the 2nd. of June, 1837, which he believed to be the first brood of that year. A Robin's nest containing several eggs, was taken near York the first week in February, 1844, there being snow on the ground at the time, and the temperature ranging from 30° to 23° Fahrenheit; another, which had five eggs, was found at Moreton in the Marsh, in the second week of January, 1848; another, with the like number of eggs, in a garden at Wheldrake, near York, the 10th. of the same month; and one, also with eggs, near Belfast on the 20th. of February, 1846. A nest with two eggs, on which the hen bird was sitting, was found near the end of November, 1851, at Gribton, Dumfriesshire, the seat of Francis Maxwell, Esq.

The nest of the Robin, which is built of fine stalks, moss, dried leaves, and grass, and lined with hair and wool, with sometimes a few feathers, is generally placed on a bank under the shelter of a bush, or sometimes in a bush itself, at a low height from the ground, and occasionally in a hole in a wall covered with ivy, a crevice in a rock, among fern and tangled roots—the entrance perhaps being through some very narrow aperture, or an ivy-clad tree. It measures about five

VOL. II.

REDBREAST.

inches and three quarters across, and two and a half in internal diameter. It is concealed with great care and success. W. Bridger, Esq. has kindly forwarded me a specimen among a number of others.

His late Majesty King William the Fourth had a part of the mizenmast of the Victory, against which Lord Nelson was standing when he was mortally wounded, placed in a building in the grounds of Bushy Park when he resided there. A large shot had passed through this part of the mast, and in the hole it had left, a pair of Robins built their nest and reared their young. The relic was afterwards removed to the dining-room of the house, and is now in the armoury of Windsor Castle. 'Victoria pacem.'

A loft is frequently built in, and in one instance, the nest having been obliged to be removed, for an alteration in the wall, the hen bird did not forsake it, though placed elsewhere, even while dislodged mortar and stones fell dangerously near her. A nest was placed on a shelf in a pantry, among some four-sided bottles, so that it was made of a square shape. When the housekeeper had to go in for any article, the bird, instead of flying out of the window, as might have been expected, alighted on the floor till she had gone, when it immediately returned to its nest.

Mr. Jesse relates the following:- 'A gentleman had directed a waggon to be packed, intending to send it to Worthing, where he himself was going. For some reason his journey was delayed, and he therefore directed that the waggon should be placed in a shed in the yard, packed as it was, till it should be convenient for him to send it off. While it was in the shed, a pair of Robins built their nest among some straw in it, and had hatched their young just before it was sent away. One of the old birds, instead of being frightened away by the motion of the waggon, only left the nest from time to time for the purpose of flying to the nearest hedge for food for its young; and thus alternately affording warmth and nourishment to them, it arrived at Worthing. The affection of this bird having been observed by the waggoner, he took care in unloading not to disturb the Robin's nest; and the Robin and its young returned in safety to Walton Heath, being the place from whence they had set out; the distance travelled not being less than one hundred miles. Whether it was the male or female Robin which kept with the waggon I have not been able to ascertain; but most probably the latter; for what will not a mother's love and a mother's tenderness induce her to do?'

The eggs, generally five or six in number, are of a delicate pale reddish white, faintly freckled with rather darker red, most so at the larger end, where a zone or belt is sometimes formed. Some are

58

REDBREAST.

entirely white. N. Rowe, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has written me word of five eggs found in the elegant gradens of that, my own, college, whose 'classic shades' I so well remember, and which were quite white and spotless. He also tells me since of a nest and eggs taken near Exeter on New Year's Day, 1853. My friend E. C. Taylor, Esq., of Kirkham Abbey, Yorkshire, has forwarded me one of the like colour, found in a nest in that beautiful neighbourhood, my own, as I may call it, through the tie of property and former residence.

One is greyish white, spotted with yellowish red, and brownish red, with which the base is much covered.

A second is greyish white, spotted with light rust red, but most so at the thicker end.

A third is greyish, with light yellowish red spots all over, run together at the base.







BLUEBREAST.

BLUE-THROATED WARBLER. BLUE-THROATED REDSTART. BLUE-THROATED ROBIN.

PLATE CIX.

Sylvia Suecica, Motacilla Suecica, Phænicura Suecica, Ficedula Suecica, Curruca Suecica,

JENYNS. BEWICK. SELBY. GOULD. EYTON. BECHSTEIN. SELBY.

THE nest is placed on the ground, among the larger herbage, on the sides of banks, and among low brushwood. It is well concealed, and is composed of dried grass and a little moss, the blossoms of the reed, leaves, small stalks, and roots, and is lined with finer moss, hair, and the beautiful down of the cotton-grass.

The eggs are four, or five, or six in number, and of a greenish blue colour. The shell is very delicate and fragile. J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq. has forwarded me a specimen for the use of this work.

One is of a greyish green, spotted with a few pale reddish spots.

A second is of a greyish green, spotted with red, more at the thicker end.

A third is of a light yellowish green, faintly spotted with red.

61







REDSTART.

RED-TAIL. FIRE-TAIL. BRAN-TAIL. FIERY BRAN-TAIL.

PLATE CX.

Sylvia Phænicurus, Phænicura ruticilla, Ruticilla Phænicurus, Motacilla Phænicurus. LATHAM. PENNANT. SELBY. SWAINSON. MACGILLIVRAY. MONTAGU.

THE nest, which is more or less well concealed, and rather loosely constructed, is built of moss, dry grass, and leaves, and lined with hair and feathers. It is frequently placed in a hole in an old wall, under the eaves of a house, in a hollow or hole in a tree, or even between the branches of one, as also against a wall, if extraneous support is afforded. One has been known to have been placed in a watering-pot, others in flower-pots, and one in a hole in the ground, even where such a choice was not made from necessity. It is frequently placed close to or in the wall of a house, and that where persons are constantly passing, even within reach of the hand. Another has been known also placed on the ground under an inverted flower-pot; the hen bird successfully rearing her brood, the flower-pot, which was at first unwittingly removed, having been replaced by the Rev. J. C. Atkinson, who relates the circumstance in the 'Zoologist,' page 355. Bishop Stanley mentions one he had known 'built on the narrow space between the gudgeons or narrow upright iron on which a garden door was hung; the bottom of the nest, of course, resting on the iron hinge, which must have shaken it every time the door was opened. Nevertheless, there she sat, in spite of all the inconvenience and publicity, exposed as she was to all who were constantly passing to and fro.' Another has been known in like manner to sit through the din of three looms at work from five o'clock in the morning until ten at night, within

REDSTART.

twelve feet of the nest. The same situation, if the birds have been undisturbed, is frequently resorted to from year to year. One pair have been known to revisit the same garden for sixteen seasons in succession: a pair resorted for four successive years to the ventilator of a stable. The female is sedulously devoted to her eggs or young, and will sometimes suffer herself to be touched before flying off from the nest; if, however, they be molested she will forsake it: both birds indeed are most assiduous in their attentions to their brood, one or other of them being to be seen in constant motion, conveying food to them, or retiring in search of it. In one instance, the male bird having been killed while the hen was sitting, another partner joined the widow, and became foster-father to the orphaned family.'

The following was in the 'Ipswich Journal' of June 11th., 1853:-'In the gardens at Holbrook House, the residence of Miss Reade, a little bird called the Redtail has built a nest in an inverted flower-pot, six and a half inches deep, and seven inches wide at the top. The hole in the bottom, or rather the top as the pot stands, is one and a half inches over, and through this the little bird has carried the whole of the materials for its nest, which is formed on the side of the pot. Six eggs were laid, from which five young ones were hatched; and our correspondent has promised to give us the particulars as to their mode of escape at some future time. The pot stands by the side of a gravel walk, at a spot where the family and gardener are continually passing.'

The eggs, which are of a uniform light greenish blue colour, are generally from four to six or seven in number, but occasionally so many as eight have been found. They much resemble those of the Dunnock, but are of a paler colour, and a more slender and delicate form, as well as considerably smaller.





BLACKSTART.

BLACK REDSTART. BLACK RED-TAIL. TITHYS REDSTART.

PLATE CXI.

Sylvia Tithys, Sylvia Gibraltariensis, Phænicura Tithys, Ficedula Tithys, Motacilla atrata, Jenyns. Latham. Gould. Selby. Eyton.

THE nest, which is rather large, is placed among the clefts of stones or rocks, and also in the holes of walls and ruins, the spires, towers, and higher parts of churches, and the roofs of houses. It is formed of grasses, moss, wool, and the dry stalks and fibres of plants, and is lined more or less with hair or feathers. 'It is,' says W. R. Fisher, Esq., of Yarmouth, 'formed of almost any material which is suitable, and can be readily obtained. I have found it composed of grey worsted, taken from a loose ball which was lying in a garret.'

The eggs are from five to seven in number, and of a very pure glossy white in colour, and the shell peculiarly fragile and transparent. I have been favoured by R. W. Hawkins, Esq., of Rugeley, Staffordshire, with the nest and egg of this bird, taken at Longdon.

The young are hatched after thirteen days incubation. Two broods are frequently reared in the year, the first being hatched by the beginning of May, and the second soon following it—being abroad in June. The same situation is frequently returned to year after year.







STONECHAT.

STONECHATTER. STONECLINK. STONE SMITH. MOOR TITLING. BLACK CAP.

PLATE CXII.

Sylvia rubicola, Motacilla Tschecautschia, Motacilla rubicola, Saxicola rubicola, Œnanthe nostra tertia, PENNANT. GMELIN. MONTAGU. BEWICK. FLEMING. SELBY. RAY. WILLUGHBY.

THESE birds pair in March, and commence building towards the end of that month.

The nest, which is large and loosely put together, and composed of moss, dry grass, and fibrous roots, or heath, lined with hair and feathers, and sometimes with wool, is placed among the grass or other herbage at the bottom of a furze or other bush, or in the bush itself, as also in heather, and even occasionally in some neighbouring hedge, adjoining the open ground which the bird frequents. It is exceedingly difficult to find, on account of its situation in the middle of a cluster of whin bushes—such not admitting of the most easy access—the female also sitting very close, and, when off the nest, being very watchful of all your movements, hopping quickly from bush to bush, and disappearing suddenly by retreat into cover.

The eggs, generally five or six in number, rarely seven, are of a pale greyish or greenish blue colour, the larger end minutely speckled with dull reddish brown. They are laid the middle or latter end of April, sometimes in the earlier part of that month; and have been known so late as the 12th. of July—perhaps a second brood.

One variety is grounded with a dull greyish green, marked with very small pale dull reddish spots all over.

STONECHAT.

A second is of a dull greyish white, marked with small reddish spots, chiefly at the thicker end, and other minute yellowish ones all over.

A third is of a pale dull grey green, with some light reddish spots over the surface.




WHINCHAT.

GRASSCHAT. FURZECHAT.

PLATE CXIII.

Sylvia rubetra, Motacilla rubetra, Saxicola rubetra, Rubetra major, Œnanthe secunda, PENNANT. Montagu. Bewick. Fleming. Selby. Brisson. Ray.

THE nest is placed in the lower part of a gorse bush, a few inches above the ground, where the thorns and stalks are dying off, so that the materials of the nest assimilate in appearance to the situation in which it is placed, and it is thus the rather screened from observation. More frequently it is placed in the grass at the foot of it, and has been known in a hedge adjoining a road. Where there are no gorse bushes, it is placed among rough grass in a pasture field, or in a meadow. Henry Stowe, Esq., of Emmanuel College, Cambridge, took one near Brackley, in Northamptonshire, built so near the edge of a pond that the nest was quite wet. It is loosely built of stalks of grass and moss, and is lined with finer portions of the former; a layer of wool has been known between the two, and occasionally some hair or leaves: it measures six inches across, and two and a half internally. It is very carefully concealed, and extremely difficult to find; the bird approaching it stealthily by a labyrinthine track.

The eggs are of a glossy bluish green colour, with some minute specks, and sometimes, though very rarely, of dull reddish brown; they are five or six in number, usually the latter, very rarely seven.

One is grounded with fine deep greenish blue.

A second is of a paler bluish green.

A third sort is very dull greenish blue, with a few reddish spots.

WHINCHAT.

The young are hatched towards the end of May, and two broods are produced in the season, the first being abroad from the middle of June to the beginning of July, and the second in August.

Edwin Cottingham, Esq. has favoured me with a drawing of the nest and eggs.





WHEATEAR.

FALLOW-CHAT. WHITE-TAIL. STONE-CHACKER. CHACK-BIRD. CLOD-HOPPER.

PLATE CXIV .--- FIG. I.

Sylvia ænanthe, Motacilla ænanthe, "Saxicola ænanthe, PENNANT. LATHAM. LINNÆUS. MONTAGU. GMELIN. WILLUGHBY. RAY. FLEMING. SELBY. BECHSTEIN.

THE nest, which is commenced the middle of May, is sometimes well hid in the innermost recess of some crevice among rocks, in an old wall, stone-quarry, gravel-pit, sand-pit, or chalk-pit, and frequently in a deserted rabbit-burrow, or the hollow under some large clod, tuft, or stone. Mr. Hewitson has known one in the bank of a river, in a hole deserted by a Sand Martin. It is rudely constructed of fine dry stalks of grass or moss, feathers or wool, rabbits' fur, hair, or any other 'odds and ends' that may chance to be procurable.

The eggs, usually from four to six in number, sometimes, though very rarely, seven, are of an elegant rather elongated form, and of a uniform delicate pale blue colour, deepest at the larger end. A. J. Drake, Esq. has some varieties quite white.

One is of a dull greyish green, with a few distinct reddish spots all over.

A second is of a dull greyish green without any spots.

A third variety is of a dull greyish green, with a few very small reddish spots.

The young are abroad from the middle of May to June, so that a second brood is frequently reared before the end of July.

GRASSHOPPER WARBLER.

CRICKET BIRD.

PLATE CXIV .- FIG. II.

Sylvia locustella, Curruca locustella, Salicaria locustella, Locustella avicula, PENNANT. MONTAGU. BEWICK. Fleming. Selby. Gould. Ray.

THE nest, of a cup shape, is formed in a rather firm manner of reeds or grass, with sometimes a little moss, lined with finer portions of the same. It is difficult to find, owing to the careful habits of the bird, and is placed on the ground, and has been met with at the foot of a small bush by the road side; it is completely hidden in the middle of some large tuft, through which there is no entrance but such as the bird threads for herself, creeping along like a mouse to and into it.

The eggs are from five or six to seven in number, of a pale reddish white colour, freckled all over with specks of darker red; they seldom vary much.

The young soon quit the nest on being disturbed, trusting by instinct to their habitual powers of concealment.





SAVI'S WARBLER.

73

PLATE CXV.

Sylvia luscinoides, Salicaria luscinoides, GOULD. YARRELL.

THE nest, which is placed on the ground, is formed of the leaves of the reed, wound round and interlaced, but without any other lining.

The eggs are of a whitish colour, minutely speckled nearly all over with pale red and light grey, in some the red, and in others the grey predominating.

One, figured by Professor Thieneman, is mottled over on a grey ground with small yellow blots.







SEDGE WARBLER.

SEDGE BIRD. SEDGE WREN. REED FAUVETTE.

PLATE CXVI.

Sylvia salicaria, Sylvia Phragmitis, Salicaria Phragmitis, Calomoherpe Phragmitis, LATHAM. TEMMINCK. SELBY. MACGILLIVRAY.

N. Rowe, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has taken the nest in a Seringa tree. It is usually placed at about two, and never at a greater height than three or four feet from the ground, on a stump of a willow or alder tree, but generally among the tall grass or flags that grow along the side of the river or pool. G. B. Clarke, Esq., of Woburn, has been kind enough to forward me specimens of the nest and eggs. So has also James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford. The nest is made of stalks of grass, and other smaller plants, lined with finer parts of the same and hair: it is rather large, and but loosely put together. Selby says that moss is sometimes used. The young leave the nest very soon.

The eggs, four, or generally five, Sir William Jardine says six or seven, in number, are of a pale yellowish brown colour, marked with light brown and dull grey. They are usually closely freckled all over. Mr. Heysham mentions a nest which contained three quite white. Sometimes they are uniform dull yellow: they are laid early in May.

One variety consists chiefly of pale olive brown, with a thin waved streak at the thicker end.

A second is grounded with very pale yellowish green, with one very thin waved black streak at the thick end.

A third is of a greyish colour, thickly mottled all over with green. The above are figured by Professor Thieneman.







REED WARBLER.

NIGHT WARBLER. REED WREN.

PLATE CXVII.

Sylvia arundinacea, Motacilla arundinacea, Curruca arundinacea, Salicaria arundinacea, Passer arundinacea minor, Pennant. Bewick. Montagu. Fleming. Selby. Gould. Ray.

THE nest is a very artistical piece of work, and is generally placed between three, four, or five stems of the common reed that grow near to one another, at a height commonly of about three feet above the water, but one has been known as much as nine feet from the ground. To these the self-taught architect fastens the cordage that supports her tent, twining and interlacing it, that is, part of the materials of which it is composed, round and round them at intervals, until the whole is firmly fixed, not so firmly, however, but that the reeds may be easily slipped out without injuring the structure. It is formed of dried grass, long stalks, dry leaves, lichens, and wool, as also at times some moss, and is lined with the blossom of the reed. It generally consists of two parts, a loose foundation of the first-named materials, and the actual nest, which is composed almost exclusively of the last-named. This upper part can sometimes be detached from the lower, as if from a socket, the whole being narrow and deep to secure the eggs when the reeds are so swayed down, that the frail fabric, the bird all the while sitting in it, is often brought close to the very water's edge. The depth outside is from about three to five inches, and the inside about three, by about three in width at the top and two at the bottom. The nest, however, is not invariably placed among reeds; it is at times found in a blackthorn, whitethorn, willow, or among the clustering branches of

REED WARBLER.

an osier bed. Mr. Sweet met with one in the low part of a poplar tree, and Mr. Bolton another in a hazel bush. It is said that the nests of birds of the first and second year's age are not so neatly finished as those whose builders have had more experience. When destroyed sometimes by floods, even two or three times, these birds have been known by Mr. Briggs to build a fourth. James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has taken one suspended in a box tree, near the piece of water which is there so great an ornament. N. Rowe, Esq., of the same College, has found it in a lilac tree. G. B. Clarke, Esq., of Woburn, has also forwarded to me specimens of the nest and eggs of the present species, as have likewise J. G. Bonney, Esq., and Mr. Dalton.

The eggs, usually four, or sometimes five or six in number, are of a dull greenish white colour, spotted and freckled with darker greyish green and light brown. In some instances the spots are almost black, in others inclining to a brownish green; occasionally the egg is marked with one or two little black lines at the broad end. The arrangement of the spots is endless—some varieties are equally marked all over; in some the spots are in a ring round the broad end; in others the base is covered; some are but slightly marked; others are completely clouded over; one rare variety has been seen almost white, faintly mottled with pale grey blots; some quite white have been known. They are frequently not laid until after the beginning of June.

One is of a greyish white, with one or two greyish blots, and a few lighter spots of the same.

A second is of a greenish white, with some handsome and distinct green blots.

A third is of a dark greyish green, mottled over with spots of a dark green.

A fourth variety is grounded with very pale yellowish white, and some spots of a darkish green, chiefly at and about the thicker end.

A fifth is of a dark greyish green, with some dark green spots.

A sixth is of a greyish green, covered over with darker green spots. The young are hatched in July, and are said to quit the nest soon, being able, before acquiring the art of flying, to make their way about the stalks of the reeds with their parents.





NIGHTINGALE.

PLATE CXVIII.

Sylvia luscinia, Motacilla luscinia, Curruca luscinia, Philomela luscinia, PENNANT. TEMMINCK. Montagu. Bewick. Fleming. Selby. Gould.

THE nest of the Nightingale, which is almost always placed on the ground, in some natural hollow, amongst the roots of a tree, on a bank, or at the foot of a hedgerow, though sometimes two or three feet from the surface, is very loosely put together, and is formed of various materials, such as dried stalks of grasses, and leaves, small fibrous roots, and bits of bark, lined with a few hairs and the finer portions of the grass. It is about five inches and a half in external diameter, by about three internally, and about three and a half deep.

The eggs, of a regular oval form, are of a uniform glossy dull olive brown colour. They are sometimes tinged with greyish blue, especially at the smaller end; some are greenish, others brownish green; some are paler, mottled with olive brown; and some are longer in shape than others. They are four or five to six in number. They are laid in May, and are rather large for the size of the bird. The male and female both sit on them, but the latter the most. The young, which are hatched in June, often leave the nest and hop about on the ground in its neighbourhood before they are able to fly.







THRUSH NIGHTINGALE.

PLATE CXIX.

Sylvia Turdoides, Philomela Turdoides, MEYER. BLYTH. GOULD.

THE nest is built in small thickets, but most frequently in low and damp situations.

The eggs are of a brownish olive-colour, stained with deep brown.







GREAT SEDGE WARBLER.

PLATE CXX.

Salicaria Turdoides,

SELBY.

THE nest is located among the stalks of reeds, and is almost entirely composed of the blossoms and tops of reeds and other grasses, to about the thickness of an inch, laced together with their stalks and leaves.

The eggs are four or five in number, obtuse, greenish white, spotted with black and ash-colour. A variety in the collection of Mr. Salmon is tinted with light blue sparingly spotted.

One is of a greenish white, spotted with grey and brown spots, and one or two yellowish brown ones.

A second is of a light brownish yellow, with large brown and dull yellowish green spots.

A third is grounded with grey, spotted with a few dull yellowish green spots, and some bluish grey ones.

A fourth is of dark green, spotted with one or two greenish yellow blots, and some reddish brown ones.

The ground of a fifth is yellowish green, spotted with darker yellow and brown.

W. F. W. Bird, Esq. has kindly sent me a drawing of an egg from the fine collection of Lord Garvagh, and his Lordship has also let me have the egg itself. C. G. Tottenham, Esq., and J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., have also favoured me with the loan of specimens.

83







BLACKCAP.

BLACKCAP WARBLER. MOCK NIGHTINGALE.

PLATE CXXI.

Sylvia atricapilla, Motacilla atricapilla, Motacilla mosquita, Curruca atricapilla, Pennant. Jenyns. Montagu. Bewick. Gmelin. Gould. Fleming.

THE nest, built about the end of May or the beginning of June, is commonly placed in a bramble or other bush, sometimes in a honeysuckle, a raspberry, or currant tree, about two or three feet or rather more from the ground; sometimes among nettles. It is made of dry grass and small fibrous roots, with occasionally a little moss and hair —the latter as a lining, and the outer parts cemented together with spiders' webs and wool. It is strong and tolerably compact, though slight. Anything like meddling with it, or intruding upon it, is jealously watched, and the smallest disturbance causes the nest to be forsaken. Several in fact are frequently abandoned, either from apprehension or caprice, before they have been finished. Alfred Newton, Esq., of Elveden Hall, near Thetford, mentions in the 'Zoologist,' page 1024, his having known a nest to be found there on the 11th. of March, 1845, which contained an egg at that early date.

The eggs, usually four or five in number, are of a pale greenish white colour, mottled with light brown and grey, with a few spots and streaks of dark brown. They vary a good deal both in size and shape.

Frederick Stafford, Esq., of De Warren House, Northfleet, Kent, has informed me of his having obtained from the county of Norfolk, four eggs of this species of a beautiful salmon-colour, in no way the effect of incubation, as only one egg had been deposited when the nest was first discovered. This pink variety is not very unfrequent. J. A. Drake, Esq. has also forwarded me a good variety.

85

BLACKCAP.

One is grounded with yellowish brown, with a few small spots of black.

A second is of a greyish white, nearly hidden with blots of light yellowish green, and a few dark green spots.

A third is of a greyish pink, with some spots of brownish pink, and some waved streaks and small dashes of the same.

A fourth is of a greyish white, with blots of yellowish brown, and one or two dull waved streaks of a darker shade.

Both birds sit on the eggs, but the female naturally the most. The male frequently sings while so engaged. The female, when sitting, is occasionally fed by her partner. The young are said to leave the nest rather soon, roosting with their parents on the adjoining boughs.

86




ORPHEAN WARBLER.

PLATE CXXII.

Sylvia Orphea, Sylvia grisea, Curruca Orphea, TEMMINCK. VIELLOT. GOULD.

A SPECIMEN of this bird was shot on the 6th. of July, 1848, in a small plantation near Wetherby, in the West Riding of Yorkshire, and preserved by Mr. Graham, of York, for William Mordaunt Edward Milner, Esq., M.P. for York. It was a female, and appeared to have been sitting the same summer: the male bird was also observed with it for a considerable time previously. An account of this interesting occurrence was published in the 'Zoologist,' pages 3107-8-9-10.

The Orphean Warbler builds sometimes in low bushes, often in company with others of the same species, and not uncommonly in holes of rocks and walls, as also in the eaves and roofs of deserted and isolated houses and buildings.

The eggs are four or five in number, nearly white, irregularly marked with yellowish blots and brown spots, chiefly at the larger end.

One is of a greyish colour, spotted with a few green spots mostly at the thicker end.

A second variety is of a greyish white, with a few very small light yellowish green spots all over.

A third is also of a whitish grey, with large blots and spots of green.

The plate is from a drawing sent by W. F. W. Bird, Esq., with his usual kindness, together with two specimens from the collection of Frederick Bond, Esq., to be coloured from for this work.







GARDEN WARBLER.

GREATER PETTYCHAPS.

PLATE CXXIII.

Sylvia hortensis, Curruca hortensis, LATHAM. BECHSTEIN. SELBY.

THE nest is made of goose-grass, and other grasses, straws, and small roots, mixed sometimes with a small quantity of moss, and lined with a little wool or horse-hair, and fine fibres of plants. It is attached to the branches with spider-cots and the cocoons of chrysalides. It is generally placed between the branches of some low blackthorn, whitethorn, or other bush, not far from the ground, so also at times on the ground among the taller wild plants. It is rather loosely constructed. One is said to have been found in an open field among some tares, and another has been taken in a row of peas in a garden by Mr. Yarrell. Mr. Jesse mentions his having found one three times in succession among some ivy growing against a wall. It is not very carefully concealed.

The eggs are four or five in number, of a dull yellowish grey, or pale purple brown, spotted and blotted with darker markings of the latter colour. James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has obligingly forwarded me a specimen from the beautiful gardens of that College, where it used to my knowledge to be an annual visitant.

Both male and female are believed to take their turn on the nest. Two broods are commonly reared in the season.

One variety is grounded with grey, marked all over with some blots of yellowish green.

A second is of a greyish yellow, covered with blots of pale green.

A third is grounded with grey, mottled over with yellowish brown. VOL. 11.

GARDEN WARBLER.

A fourth is of a bluish grey, elegantly marbled with some waved streaks of a darker shade of the same, and a few light yellowish brown spots.

A fifth is of a greyish yellow, handsomely marked with rich reddish brown at the thick end, and a few paler marks of the same over the remainder of the surface.





WHITETHROAT.

COMMON WHITETHROAT. MUGGY. NETTLE-CREEPER.

PLATE CXXIV.

Sylvia cinerea, Motacilla sylvia, Curruca sylvia, " cinerea, Pennant. Jenyns. Montagu. Bewick. Fleming. Gould.

THE nest, thin in width and loosely compacted, though still elastic, and not flimsy, is placed near the ground, not more than two or three feet above it, in a low hedge, or sometimes in a bramble, furze, sloe, wild rose, or other bush, as also frequently among nettles or other tall weeds or herbaceous plants on the ground, or beside a bank; Mr. Jesse mentions one which built in a vine close to a window. It is for the most part a 'straw-built shed,' composed chiefly of dried stalks of grasses, though other plants are occasionally used, and lined with finer portions of the same, and a good deal of hair of various kinds, with which it is often, though not always, thickly woven on the inside, giving it accordingly more or less consistency. The same situation is frequently resorted to year after year; a trifling disturbance will cause the owner to desert it before the eggs are laid, but the reverse is the case afterwards: much care is not taken in its concealment. The young quit the nest early, even before they are fully able to fly, if alarmed for their safety. Two broods, and not uncommonly three, are reared in the season; in the south of Scotland, however, the first nest is seldom completed before the end of May. The bird has been known to build close to a public road, and in the immediate vicinity also of an occupied dwellinghouse.

The eggs, four or five in number, are of a greenish white ground colour, with spots and speckles of greenish grey and brownish grey.

WHITETHROAT.

One variety is of a lightish green, with a few spots of dark green.

A second is mottled, of a dull yellowish green, with a few distinct green spots.

A third is chiefly composed of marbled yellowish green, with a band of green blots at the thicker end, and a few blotted dots of the same.

A fourth is of a light mottled yellowish white, with a few spots of dull green, nearly all about the base.

A fifth is of a greyish green, with some large blots of yellowish green, and a few small ones chiefly at the larger end.

W. Bridger, Esq. has forwarded me a specimen of the nest for the use of this work; and J. G. Bonney, Esq., of Rugeley, Staffordshire, a variety of the egg.





LESSER WHITETHROAT.

PLATE CXXV.

Sylvia sylviella, Sylvia dumetorum, Sylvia curruca, Motacilla curruca, Motacilla sylviella, Motacilla dumetorum, Curruca sylviella, Curruca garrula, PENNANT. MONTAGU. LATHAM. TEMMINCK. LINNÆUS. BEWICK. GMELIN. FLEMING. GOULD.

THE nest, which is begun about three weeks after the arrival of the birds, is of a slight construction, and is made of dry grass and a little wool, or moss, lined, but rarely, with small fibres, roots and hairs; it is rather loosely interwoven, and is bound together with spiders' webs and such like materials. It is sometimes placed among the herbage on a bank, as well as in the lower part of a hedge, or in some low shrub —a nut tree, gooseberry bush, black-thorn, broom, woodbine, and among briers and brambles, generally at a height, in the latter, of about four or five feet from the ground, but sometimes as much as six, seven, eight, or even ten.

The eggs are of a greenish white colour, spotted most numerously at the larger end, and sometimes in the way of a zone with small dots and patches of brown and light grey. James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has forwarded me a specimen for the use of this work.

Incubation lasts from twelve to fourteen days, commencing about the 20th. of May. Two, and sometimes even possibly three, broods are reared in the season.

The young birds in their nestling plumage nearly resemble the old ones, but the colour of the head and the back are more uniform.







WOOD WARBLER.

YELLOW WARBLER. WOOD WREN. LARGER WILLOW WREN. YELLOW WILLOW WREN. GREEN WREN.

PLATE CXXVI.

Sylvia sylvicola, Motacilla trochilus, Sylvia sibilatrix, Curruca sibilatrix, Regulus non-cristatus major, Pennant. Bewick. Selby. Fleming. Willughby.

THE nest, which is domed, and of an oval shape, is almost always placed on the ground, among herbage in woods, the entrance being through a small hole in the side. It is made of grasses, leaves, and moss, cleverly, but not thickly, interwoven, lined with the finer parts of the first and hair. It is well concealed, and is usually to be found on the side of some slope, where the sun's rays gaining transitory admittance through the boughs above encourage the vegetation, and dispel the dank and humid atmosphere which otherwise would prevail in such a place. Mr. Sweet says that he has often found the nest on the stump of a tree.

The eggs, six, or more commonly seven in number, are of a white ground colour, thickly spotted and speckled all over with dark purple, red, and grey, forming a mass at the larger end. Some are, however, much less marked than others.

One is of a white ground with blackish brown spots, and a few blots irregularly over.

Another is of the same ground with some distinct dark reddish brown spots at the thicker end, and smaller spots of the same all over.

WOOD WARBLER.

A third is of a dull olive brown ground, thickly mottled with a darker shade of the same.

A fourth is of a bluish white ground, handsomely spotted with brown and blackish spots, principally towards the base.





WILLOW WARBLER.

YELLOW WARBLER. WILLOW WREN. HUCK-MUCK.

PLATE CXXVII.

Sylvia trochilus, Motacilla trochilus, Motacilla acredula, Regulus trochilus, Pennant. Selby. Jenyns. Montagu. Linnæus. Linnæus. Fleming.

THE nest, which is very large for the size of the bird, of an oval but rather flat shape, though it varies in form, probably according to the situation in which it is placed, is built of moss, leaves, or fern, and grass, a hollow being left in the sides for the ingress and egress of the bird. It is lined with feathers, and with hair, the former being the innermost, and is pretty firmly compacted. It is placed on the ground, generally in woods, or among the long grass, brushwood, or weeds on the bank of some wooded hedge by the outside of a wood, or the edge of a pathway or open place in such. One has been met with in the ivy on a wall, and another in a field, several yards from the fence. James Croome, Esq. writes me word also of one placed two yards from a fence, in long grass, which having been destroyed, a second was built four yards from the hedge; and a third, the second having been also accidentally destroyed, about the same distance from it. The nest is carefully concealed.

The eggs, of a rotund form, but varying much in size and marks, are from four to six or seven in number, and mostly light pinkish white, with numerous small specks of pale rusty red; some are less thoroughly spotted, and some most marked at the larger end, while others are only sparingly dotted; they are a little polished: pure white ones have been met with. The female bird sits very close upon them,

0

VOL. II.

WILLOW WARBLER.

and the male feeds her on the nest, she chattering to him the while, and he to her, and sometimes takes her place in the course of the day, while she searches for food.

The young are hatched the end of May or beginning of June, and are fledged about the middle or end of that month, or the beginning of July. A second brood, if reared, is abroad by the beginning of August.

One is of a dull greyish white ground with some small spots of yellowish brown at the thick end, and smaller spots of the same throughout.

Another variety is of a greyish white colour tinged with pinkish yellow, with a band of light reddish brown spots near the larger end, with smaller and paler spots all over.

The next is of a dull white ground, with very small light yellowish brown spots all over.

J. R. De C. Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has favoured me with the loan of the nest and egg of this bird.





MELODIOUS WILLOW WARBLER.

MELODIOUS WILLOW WREN.

PLATE CXXVIII.

Sylvia hippolais,

TEMMINCK.

MR. GOULD says that this species builds on trees, as well as at times in shrubs in gardens.

The eggs are five in number, of a reddish white colour, blotted with spots of darker red.

The first variety given by Thieneman is of a pale reddish yellow brown ground, with a few small black spots and dots all over.

Another is of a very pale dull grey ground, tinged with pink, with numerous small light brown spots.

A third is of a light pinkish grey ground, with some dull dusky grey and light bluish, and a few brown, spots, chiefly at the base.

A fourth variety is of a dull pink colour, with two or three large blackish spots, and a few smaller ones throughout.

J. R. Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has kindly forwarded two specimens for the use of this work.







CHIFF CHAFF.

LESSER PETTYCHAPS. LEAST WILLOW WREN.

PLATE CXXIX.

Sylvia rufa, Motacilla hippolais, Sylvia hippolais, Temminck. Montagu. Latham. Jenyns. Selby.

THE nest, which is arched over, is skilfully constructed of various indiscriminate materials, according to the situation it is placed in, fern, moss, leaves, grasses, the bark of the birch tree, the shells of chrysalides, wool, and the down of flowers, with sometimes feathers and a few hairs for lining for the whole of the interior; it is arched over more than half-way, the other portion of the upper half being left open by the side; if the roofing be removed, even three or four times, the patient little architect will renew it. It is placed on the ground, generally, but not always in the immediate neighbourhood of trees, or on a hedge bank, or near a brook, or on the moss-clad stump of a tree, beneath the shelter of the trailing boughs of some bramble, furze, or other bush or clod of earth. Mr. Henry Doubleday has found one at a height of two feet from the ground, in some fern; and Mr. Hewitson mentions another, which was built in some ivy against a garden wall, at a like elevation. Occasionally the nest is placed in a row of peas, or a bed of ground-growing wild plants.

The eggs, usually seven in number, are more than ordinarily rounded at the larger end, and pointed at the smaller. They are hatched in thirteen days: they do not vary much, and are of a white ground colour, with very small dots and spots of blackish red or purple brown, chiefly at the thicker end, which they sometimes surround in the way of a zone or belt. Mr. Neville Wood saw a nest which contained five eggs of

CHIFF CHAFF.

the usual colour, and the sixth pure white. The shell is very thin, and but little polished. The eggs are laid towards the middle or end of May, and the young birds are fledged about the middle of June: they quit the nest early.

Incubation lasts thirteen days, and the male occasionally relieves the female at her post. Two broods are sometimes reared in the season.





DARTFORD WARBLER.

FURZE WREN.

PLATE CXXX.

Sylvia provincialis, Sylvia Dartfordiensis, Motacilla provincialis, Melizophilus provincialis, Schlegel. Latham. Gmelin. Selby.

THE nest, which is slight in its make, is placed in a furze bush, to the stems of which it is attached, at a height of about two feet from the ground. It is built of dry stalks and grass, mixed with bits of the gorse; the materials though in reality firmly compacted are apparently but loosely put together, and have a slight interweaving of wool.

Two broods appear to be reared in the year, for Montagu found the nest and eggs after the middle of July, and saw another pair of birds at the same time which appeared to have a nest near, the earlier brood being hatched early in May.

The eggs are of a whitish grey ground colour, slightly tinged with green, speckled all over with olive brown and ash-colour; near the larger end the markings are more run together, and form a sort of zone.

One variety is pale yellowish grey, with some small streaks and a few dull dusky greenish blots.

A second is of a greyish white, mottled with yellowish, and handsomely marked with a band of dark green at the thick end.






WREN.

COMMON WREN. KITTY WREN. JIMPO.

PLATE CXXXI.

Sylvia troglodytes, Motacilla troglodytes, Troglodytes vulgaris, "Europæus, Pennant. Montagu. Bewick. Temminck. Cuvier.

THE nest, very large in size in proportion to the bird, and ordinarily of a spherical shape, domed over, but flattened on the side next the substance against which it is placed, varies much both in form and substance according to the nature of the locality which furnishes the materials and a 'locus standi' for it. It is commenced early in the spring, even so soon as the end of the month of March, the birds pairing in February. One found by my second son, Reginald Frank Morris, this autumn, in the beautiful grounds of Mulgrave Castle, near Whitby, the seat of Lord Normanby, was placed against the trunk of a large tree, about eight or ten feet from the ground, and was chiefly composed externally of dry leaves. Others are variously made of fern and moss, grass, small roots, twigs, and hay, closely resembling in most cases the immediate situation in which they are placed; some are lined with hair or feathers, and others not. The nest is firmly put together, especially about and below the orifice, which is strengthened with small twigs or moss, and is in the upper half, and nearly closed by the feathers inside. It is in thickness from one inch to two inches, and about three inches wide within by about four in depth, and outside about five wide by six deep. At times they are found on the ground, and also in banks, as well as against trees, even so high up as twenty feet, also under the eaves of the thatch of a building, in holes in walls, the sides of stacks, among piles of wood or faggots, or the bare roots of trees, and under the projection at the top of the bank VOL. II. P

105

of a river; one has been known to be placed in an old bonnet fixed up among some peas to frighten the birds, and one close to a constant thoroughfare. Mr. Hewitson mentions one built against a clover stack, and formed entirely of clover, and so becoming part of the stack itself.

Other situations for nests are the tops of honeysuckle and raspberry bushes, in the latter case the nest being made of the leaves of the tree; in fir trees, trellis-work, granaries, the branches of wall-fruit trees, and lofts, use being made occasionally of the holes previously tenanted by Sparrows and Starlings. One has been known built withinside that of a Swallow, and another in the old nest of a Thrush; one, 'again, in the newly-finished nest of a Martin, another on a branch of a yew tree among the foliage, and another in one of the hatches in the river at Winchester. Mr. Jesse relates a curious anecdote of a Wren's nest, the owner of which being disturbed by some children watching it, blocked up the original entrance, and opened out a new one on the other side. In the garden of Nunburnholme Rectory one was built, in 1854, in the middle of a low quickset hedge, near the top, close to the walk. It was composed nearly entirely of dry leaves.

The male feeds the female while sitting. Two broods are produced in the season. The least disturbance will cause the nest to be forsaken, and a new one built, and this again and again, if so required, until the eggs are laid; even then, if they or the young be once handled, this species will sometimes desert them. This, or some interruption of the ordinary course of laying, may be the cause of tenantless nests of the Wren being so frequently found; it is, however, said that a forsaken nest will sometimes be again returned to. Thus several nests of the same year are often found near together, the work of one and the same pair of birds; and other nests, in the making of which both birds assist, are not very unfrequently put together in the autumn, and in these the birds shelter themselves in the winter, possibly as being of the newest, and therefore the best, construction, and made too late in the year for a further brood: these nests seldom, if ever, contain any feathers. The young are said to return to lodge in the nest for some time after being fledged.

The eggs are usually from seven to eight in number, but generally not more than eight, though as many as a dozen, or even fourteen, have been found, of a pale reddish white colour, the former tint being transient; some are dusky white. This ground colour is sprinkled all over with small spots of dark crimson red, and these most numerous at the obtuse end; some are quite white: the shell is very thin and polished.





GOLDCREST.

GOLDEN-CRESTED KINGLET.

GOLDEN-CRESTED WREN. GOLDEN-CROWNED WREN.

PLATE CXXXII.

Regulus cristatus, Regulus auricapillus, Regulus vulgaris, Motacilla regulus, Sylvia regulus, Fleming. Ray. Selby, Jenyns. Gould. Montagu. Pennant. Temminck.

THE nest is placed underneath and generally near the end of the branch of a fir, or occasionally on an oak, cypress, holly, yew, or other tree, as also not very unfrequently in a laurustinus or other bush, and, though very rarely, in a hedge, supported by some of the smaller offshoots, and further attached to these by the moss and lichens of which it is composed being interwoven with them, mixed sometimes with willow down, cocoons, spiders' webs, wool, grasses, and a few hairs. It measures about three inches and a half in diameter inside, and is deep and of a spherical shape, the orifice being almost always in the upper part; some however are not perfectly round. It closely assimilates in colour to the branch beneath which it is fixed. In a fir it is mostly composed of moss, and in a thorn tree, of lichens. It is sometimes placed near the top of the tree, and at others only two or three feet from the ground: a very high gale has been known to dislodge the eggs-'When the wind blows the cradle will rock.' These birds have been known to steal the materials from the nest of Chaffinches to make their own; one was noticed to do so most slily, watching its opportunity, and approaching from the opposite direction; but on the Chaffinch detecting and chasing it, it did not repeat the theft.

The nest is frequently lined with feathers, and is altogether a singularly elegant piece of architecture; the feathers are so placed as to

GOLDCREST.

project inward: two nest have been found on one branch. Mr. Hewitson says 'It is sometimes placed upon the upper surface of the branch; and I have also seen it, but rarely, placed against the trunk of the tree upon the base of a diverging branch, and at an elevation of from twelve to twenty feet above the ground.' He also mentions in the 'Zoologist,' page 825, his having once met with the nest in a low juniper bush, very little more than a foot from the ground. James Croome, Esq. writes me word of one he found in the stump of a thin bush, about four feet from the ground, and another in a bush a few feet from the hedge, at a height of about six feet.

Deserted nests of this species are frequently to be met with, but the reason of their desertion is not known. The eggs in one nest were observed placed in two rows, with the small ends touching each other.

The eggs are four, five, six, or seven, to eight, or even ten, or eleven in number; they are of a very pale reddish or brownish white; the larger end being much the darkest coloured, and light reddish brown; some have been known pure white, sparingly spotted with reddish brown here and there. They are smaller than those of any other British bird, and are sometimes almost of a globular shape. The young are fed by both the parents. It is thought that two broods are reared in the year, and that the second is less numerous than the first. Eggs, fresh laid, have been met with in May and June, while the young birds have been known fully fledged by the third week in April. The same nest has also been known to have been used twice in the same season, two broods being hatched and reared; but whether by the same parents or not, of course could not be told.

One variety is of a greyish white, with some small spots of pinkish yellow all over, some of them arranged as a band.

Another is of a dull pale yellowish white, with yellowish brown spots thickly run together at the base: it is of a rotund form.

A third is greyish, and of an oval shape, with a bar of minute spots of the same over the base.

W. Bridger, Esq. has forwarded me a nest, and a lady a drawing of one. Mrs. Murchison, of the Priory, Bicester, has also obliged me with a beautiful specimen of the nest and the egg.





FIRECREST.

PLATE CXXXIII.

FIRE-CRESTED KINGLET. FIRE-CROWNED KINGLET.

Regulus ignicapillus, Sylvia ignicapilla, JENYNS. MACGILLIVRAY. TEMMINCK.

FIRE-CRESTED WREN.

THE nest is built of moss, wool, and a few grasses, lined with fur and feathers. It is suspended from the branch of a fir or other tree.

The eggs are said to be from five or six to eight or ten in number, and of a pale reddish yellow tint, minutely speckled with yellowish grey about the larger end, but they vary in size and colour.

One variety is of a pale dull yellowish grey, with an elegant band of small spots of a darker colour near the thick end, and other minute ones over the remainder of the surface.

Another is with a ground of yellowish grey tinged with red, with a band of light clear red spots, nearly at the centre, and many minute dots and spots of the same all over.







WOOD PIGEON.

RING DOVE. CUSHAT. QUEEST.

PLATE CXXXIV .---- FIG. I.

Columba palumbus,

PENNANT. MONTAGU.

THE nest, wide and shallow, placed usually at a height of from sixteen to twenty feet from the ground, is little more than a rude platform of a few crossed sticks and twigs, the largest as the foundation, so thinly laid together that the eggs or young may sometimes be discovered from below. It is often built in woods and plantations, but not unfrequently also in single trees, even those that are close to houses, roads, and lanes, the oak and the beech, the fir or any other suitable one, or even in ivy against a wall, rock, or tree, or in a thick bush or shrub in a garden, or an isolated thorn, even in the thick part, so that in flying out in a hurry, if alarmed, many of the loosely-attached feathers are pulled out. One pair built in a spruce fir not ten yards from a garden gate, where they were constantly liable to disturbance by the ringing of the bell, and the passing in and out of the members of the family. Another pair dwelt two years in succession close to a window by a frequented walk, and this, though a cat destroyed the young.

The eggs, which are delicious eating, are two in number, pure white, and of a rounded oval form; two and sometimes three broods are produced in the season, but the third may possibly be only the consequence of a previous one having been destroyed or prevented: the eggs are hatched in sixteen or seventeen days. James Croome, Esq. informs me that he once found three eggs in a nest. Since the above was in type, my second son, Reginald Frank Morris, found three also in one nest in a wood near Londesborough, in the East-Riding. The young are fed from the bills of the parent birds with

WOOD PIGEON.

the food previously swallowed, reduced to a sort of milk. The male and female both take their turns in hatching the eggs and in feeding the young, the former sitting from six to eight hours—from nine or ten in the morning to about three or four in the afternoon.

The first brood are abroad by the beginning of May; the second in the end of July. Mr. Macgillivray has known the young unfledged in October, and a pair with down tips to the feathers on the 26th. of that month; Mr. Hewitson, too, so late as the middle of September; and R. A. Julian, Esq., Jun., on the 15th. of that month, 1851, at Minchenay, near Holbeton, Devon; so also E. C. Nunn, Esq., at Trevan Wood, near Diss, Norfolk, on the 25th. of the same month in the same year.

STOCK DOVE.

PLATE CXXXIV .- FIG. II.

Columba ænas,

PENNANT. SELBY.

NIDIFICATION begins about the end of March, or the beginning of April.

The nest, which is flat and shallow-a mere layer of a few sticks slightly put together, is often placed on the ground in an old deserted rabbit burrow, where any exist, and in this case on the bare sand or earth, a few sticks being occasionally used; and in such places under furze and other bushes, where the surface is hollowed; also, ordinarily, in any suitable holes in trees, from four or five feet to ten times that height from the ground. The same hole is sometimes resorted to again, but not the same year, and if disturbed by other would-be tenants, they stoutly defend their own: a second brood is reared in the year. Incubation lasts about seventeen days, and in about a month the young are able to fly. The parents are very careful of the eggs, and will even sit on them till taken off with James Dalton, Esq., of Worcester College, Oxford, has the hand. found the nest of the Stock Dove in a hollow of a decayed elm tree, something more than a foot in depth, at Hillesden, near Buckingham; the nest was made of hay or grass. Leaves are on occasion used likewise for the purpose.

The eggs, white, are smaller than those of the Queest, and somewhat pointed at the smaller end, but rounded on the whole, and of an oval shape.

Q

VOL. II.







ROCK DOVE.

ROCKIER.

PLATE CXXXV .- FIG. I.

Columba livia,

SELBY. JENYNS. GOULD.

THESE birds build in companies, many often in the same cavern. The nest is composed of sticks and dry stalks, and blades of grass and other plants, laid together without much care. The bed is fresh made without much trouble for a new brood as soon as the former has been sent at large. The first eggs are laid about or towards the middle of April, and the latest the latter end of August; the young are seen about the end of September.

The eggs are white, and two in number; while the hen is sitting, the cock bird feeds her, and even at other times she will often take a morsel from his mouth: at night he remains close to the nest. The young birds are fledged in about three weeks, and after a few days education by their parents, go their ways to provide for themselves.

TURTLE DOVE.

PLATE CXXXV .- FIG. II.

Columba Turtur, Turtur auritus, LINNÆUS. LATHAM. RAY.

THE nest is carelessly constructed of a few twigs and sticks, and is placed in trees at no great height from the ground—some ten or twenty feet—but well hidden among the foliage. It is, however, itself so slight, that the eggs may be seen through it.

The eggs are two in number, and glossy white, of a narrow oval and rather pointed form. They are laid about the middle of May, and are hatched in sixteen or seventeen days. The female sits on the young, if the weather be cold, both night and day. Two and sometimes three broods are produced in the year. The young soon learn to shift for themselves.





PASSENGER PIGEON.

PLATE CXXXVI.

Columba migratoria, Ectopistes migratorius, FLEMING. YARRELL. SELBY.

IT would appear that the nest, which is placed in trees, and is only a layer of a few sticks, is put together in a single day, and that the young are hatched in sixteen days;—both male and female assisting in making the nest, the former bringing the materials, and the latter arranging them, and also in the work of incubation.

The egg, for only one is laid, is pure white.







PHEASANT.

COMMON PHEASANT. RING-NECKED PHEASANT.

PLATE CXXXVII.

Phasianus Colchicus,

LINNÆUS. LATHAM.

THE nest, a very slight fabrication of a few leaves, is made upon the ground, sometimes in the open fields, but more commonly in woods and plantations, among underwood, under fallen or felled boughs and branches of trees, in long grass, and in hedgerows.

The eggs are begun to be laid in April and May, one after another for four, five, or six weeks, and incubation lasts from twentyfour to twenty-six days. They are from six to ten and even fourteen in number, smooth, and of a light olive brown colour, minutely dotted all over. Some are greyish white tinged with green. The hen sits for four and twenty hours on the brood after they are hatched, which takes place in June or July, and they keep with her till they begin to moult to the full plumage. They soon learn to run about with her, and when half grown begin to roost on the same tree. It would appear that two hens will sometimes lay in one and the same nest, and also that that of the Partridge will occasionally be made use of, even if it already contain eggs, the Pheasant expelling their proper owner, and hatching them with her own, and bringing up the young. The eggs are subject to considerable malformation.







CAPERCAILLIE.

WOOD GROUSE.

CEILIOG COED, OF THE ANCIENT BRITISH.

PLATE CXXXVIII.

Tetrao urogallus, Urogallus major, PENNANT. MONTAGU. BRISSON.

ABOUT the beginning of May nidification commences, and the nest, composed of grasses and leaves, is made upon the ground, in long grass or heath, under the shelter of a tree, or bramble or other bush.

The eggs are from half-a-dozen to a dozen in number, of a pale reddish yellow brown, spotted all over with two shades of orange brown. Incubation is said to last for a month, the hen alone sitting, the males keeping in the neighbourhood. If danger approaches, she runs off a little way, but returns again as soon as she can with safety. The young leave the nest soon after they are hatched, and keep with the mother bird till towards the approach of winter; the cocks leaving her before the hens.

One variety is of a dull yellowish ground colour, spotted irregularly over with larger and smaller streaks and spots of dark reddish brown.

Another is of a dull yellowish ground colour, spotted all over with small spots of a darker colour, and some large blots of a dark brown throughout.







BLACK GROUSE.

BLACK GAME. BLACK COCK.

PLATE CXXXIX.

Tetrao tetrix, Urogallus minor, PENNANT. MONTAGU. RAY. WILLUGHEY.

THE nest is placed not far from water, or in a marshy spot, among heath, or in newly-made plantations, and sometimes in hedgerows, generally under the shelter of some low bush or among high grass, in some hollow, and is composed inartificially, but neatly, of grass and a few twigs laid together.

In the 'British Game Birds and Wildfowl,' by my brother, Beverley R. Morris, Esq., he says, speaking of the time after the hen birds have commenced sitting, 'They are deserted by the cock birds, who again assemble in small parties, and seek the secluded and quiet thickets, among which they chiefly remain till they have completed their moult. They are, during this seclusion, particularly timid and shy. The female has thus the whole charge of hatching and bringing up the young birds......The packs of male birds are sometimes very numerous, often amounting to from fifty to seventy birds. The females also in autumn are occasionally found in packs, but in much smaller numbers, generally under twenty.'

The eggs are from five to eight or ten in number, of a pale yellowish red or yellowish white colour, irregularly spotted and dotted with reddish brown. They are laid in May.

One is of a fine yellowish brown, spotted throughout with larger and smaller blots and streaks of reddish brown.
BLACK GROUSE.

A second is of a pale yellowish brown colour, with a few streaks of reddish brown, principally towards the thinner end, and a few minute spots of the same.

I have been obliged by Mr. D. Brown, of Trinity College, Glenalmond, Perth, with two fine specimens of the eggs of this bird.





RED GROUSE.

GOR-COCK. MOOR-COCK. MOOR-FOWL.

FOWL. MUIR-FOWL.

PLATE CXL.

Lagopus Scoticus, Tetrao Scoticus, VIELLOT. LATHAM.

THE Moor-cock pairs early in the spring, commonly in January, but sometimes even earlier. A brood of young Grouse, able to fly a little, was discovered on the 5th. of March, 1794, near Pendle Hill, in Yorkshire, by the gamekeeper of Mr. Lister, afterwards Lord Ribblesdale; and a nest with fifteen eggs was found on the 25th. of March, 1835, on Shap Fell, Westmoreland. The female usually begins to lay in March or April; she sits very close, and Mr. Salmon says that one allowed him to take her off her eggs.

The nest is made of twigs of heather and grass, with occasionally a few of the bird's own feathers, and is placed among heath in some slight hollow.

The eggs are usually six or seven, but sometimes from eight to twelve, or even more, in number, of different shades of ground colour --reddish white, brownish yellow, yellowish grey, or yellowish white, thickly clouded, blotted, and dotted with blackish and brown: they are nearly of a regular oval form.

While the young are hatching, the hen utters an occasional chuckle. The Heath Poults leave the nest shortly after they are hatched, and are soon able to fly; they keep together till the end of autumn, unless dispersed by shooters: they are attended by both the parents. At the beginning of the season they lie close, but gradually become more wild as they are disturbed.

Mr. D. Brown, of Trinity College, Glenalmond, Perth, has also favoured me with two fine specimens of the eggs of this species.







PTARMIGAN.

PLATE CXLI.

Lagopus vulgaris, Lagopus mutus, Tetrao lagopus, Fleming. Selby. Gould. Pennant. Montagu.

THE Ptarmigan pairs early in the spring, and the eggs are begun to be laid in June, and to be sat upon by the beginning of July, incubation lasting three weeks. The hen alone brings up the brood, and has been known to do so even when the male had been taken, and so also if one of the young had been picked up, to go close to the person taking it, as if to demand it back again; she gathers them under her wings in cold and stormy weather.

The nest, if any be formed, for sometimes the bare earth is laid upon, is composed of a small portion of heather or grass, placed in some slight hollow under a rock, stone, or plant, and is very difficult to be detected, 'for,' says Sir William Jardine, 'the female, on perceiving a person approach, generally leaves it, and is only discovered by her motion over the rocks, or her low clucking cry.' The male on the first sign of danger has flown off, and she thus follows him, the young dispersing in all directions, hiding themselves and laying still under any stones, tufts, or bushes. Meyer says, 'It is reported that the male Ptarmigan behaves very remarkably during the time when the female sits on her eggs, and that under these circumstances he will sit immoveable in one spot for hours together, even on the approach of danger; and when stationed thus near the nest he has been known to remain there, looking around on the landscape quite unmoved. As soon as the young are hatched, both parents become alert and busy, and towards autumn more careful, and finally very shy in the winter. If the weather is fine and sunny in winter, they are all again slow to

PTARMIGAN.

move.' But the male, it would appear, leaves the education of the young to the hen bird, re-joining them all again later in the season, and then several families pack together.

The eggs, from seven or eight to twelve in number, of a regular oval form, are of a white, yellowish white, greenish white, or reddish colour, blotted and spotted with brown and brownish black.

The ground part of one is pale yellowish white, covered all over with small brown spots and large dark brown blots, chiefly about the middle and towards the smaller end.

A second is of a dull whitish colour, spotted with very small dark brown spots, and marbled over with larger ones.

The ground of a third is chiefly composed of minute yellowish orange spots, with a few large blots of dark brown upon it, and several smaller ones.

A fourth is of a very dark grey, marbled with dark reddish brown all over.





PARTRIDGE.

COMMON PARTRIDGE.

PLATE CXLII.-FIG. I.

Perdix cinerea, Tetrao perdix, LATHAM. JENYNS. LINNÆUS.

THESE birds begin to pair very early, even so soon as the 1st. of February, and usually between that date and the 14th.: they are then found in ploughed and clover fields. At these times there are often fierce combats between the male birds. Some few never pair at all, perhaps for want of mates. The young of more than one nest sometimes join together in coveys. It is said that they remain as long as three weeks in the neighbourhood where they think of making their nest, apprehensive of choosing a dangerous site, and if the one first selected appears to be such, they fix themselves somewhere else.

The nest is only a few straws placed in a mere hollow scratched in the earth, under the shelter perhaps of some tuft, generally in open grass and other fields, among peas, corn, weeds, or herbage, at the foot of a tree or bush, or by a post, but at times in a small plantation, among shrubs, under a hedgerow, even by the roadside, and on the moors in the vicinity of cultivated land; sometimes in holes of decayed trees, as much as three or four feet from the ground, and even on the top of hay-stacks: I have been told of a nest placed in this situation, the brood hatched, and safely reared. Another I have heard of under the post of a hand-gate, which was turned whenever passengers went backwards and forwards through it. A brace of Partridges have been known, their own nest having been destroyed, to take up with the nest and eggs of a pair of Pheasants, VOL. II.

PARTRIDGE.

the hen of which had been killed, on the estate of Colonel Burgoyne, in Essex. The hen bird alone sits, the male keeping watch, and when the young are hatched he joins the covey, and protects and feeds them with the dam.

The eggs, which are of a pale greenish brown colour, are laid towards the end of May or the beginning of June, and are usually ten or twelve in number, but sometimes as many as fifteen, eighteen, or even twenty. The 'Norfolk News' mentions a nest hatched at Ditchingham between the 13th. and 18th. of April, 1851. Twentytwo eggs are recorded to have been found in one nest, and thirtyone in another, two hen birds having occupied the same one, and in the former instance the cock bird gathered half of the united family under his wings, the pair sitting side by side, but looking different ways. The young leave the nest almost as soon as they are hatched. Incubation lasts about twenty-one days, beginning about the 20th. of June.

RED-LEGGED PARTRIDGE.

GUERNSEY PARTRIDGE. FRENCH PARTRIDGE.

PLATE CXLII .- FIG. II.

Perdix rufa, Tetrao rufus, Montagu. Fleming. Bewick.

THE nest is made of grass and a few feathers of the bird itself, and is placed among corn, grass, or clover, or near a bush.

Mr. Jesse says that a clergyman in the county of Norfolk found the nest in a thatch of a hay-rick, and informed him that such is no unfrequent occurrence. Other similar instances are mentioned.

The eggs are usually from ten to twelve in number: as many as eighteen have been sometimes found. They are of a reddish yellowwhite colour, spotted and speckled with reddish brown. The young leave the nest soon after being hatched. The male takes no part in the incubation of the eggs, and leaves the care of the brood to their mother till they are half grown, when he returns to them, and continues with them till the following spring.







BARBARY PARTRIDGE.

PLATE CXLIII.-FIG. II.

Perdix petrosa,

LATHAM.

THESE birds build in barren places and desert mountains, among low bushes on the ground.

The eggs are as many as fifteen, of a dull yellowish colour, thickly dotted with greenish olive spots.

The figure on the plate is from a drawing of an egg in Dr. Pitman's collection.



VIRGINIAN PARTRIDGE.

PLATE CXLIII.-FIG. I.

Perdix Virginiana,

LATHAM. JENYNS.

NIDIFICATION begins early in May.

The nest, placed under or in some thick tuft of grass that shelters and conceals it, is described as well covered with a hood, an opening being left at one side for entrance, and is composed of leaves and fine dry grass, both birds assisting in its fabrication.

The eggs, from ten or twelve to fifteen or even twenty-four in number, this latter quantity the joint produce in all probability of two birds laying in the same nest, are pure white, without any spots, and broad at one end, and pointed at the other.

The hen bird performs the task of incubation for four weeks, and the whole family keep together till the following spring. The young leave the nest at once on being hatched, and are conducted forth by the female in search of food, and from time to time are sheltered under her wings, collected together by a twittering cry. Should danger appear to threaten, she displays extreme anxiety, boldly attacking an intruder, or using every artifice and stratagem to draw him away, feigning lameness, 'throwing herself in the path, fluttering along, and beating the ground with her wings, as if sorely wounded, uttering at the same time certain peculiar notes of alarm well understood by the young, which dive separately among the grass, and secrete themselves till the danger is over; and the parent, having decoyed the pursuer to a safe distance, returns, by a circuitous route, to collect and lead them off.' She shews the greatest assiduity and the most sedulous and unremitting attention in their further care. Wilson mentions a curious anecdote of some young ones which had been hatched under a hen, and which, 'when abandoned by her, associated with the cows, which they regularly followed to the fields, returned with them when they came home in the evening, stood by them while they were milked, and again accompanied them to the pasture. These remained during the winter, lodging in the stable, but as soon as spring came they disappeared.'

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has favoured me with the egg of this species for delineation in this work.





QUAIL.

137

COMMON QUAIL.

PLATE CXLIV.

Perdix coturnix, Tetrao coturnix, LATHAM. JENYNS. LINNÆUS.

FOR a nest the female scrapes out a small hollow in the ground, into which she collects a few bits of dry grass, straw, clover, and such like. She alone sits, and very closely, on the eggs, but the male assists her in the care of the young.

The eggs are yellowish white, orange-coloured white, or greenish, blotted or speckled with brown. They vary much in number, from six to fourteen, or even, it is said, twenty, though generally ten. Incubation lasts about three weeks. The young follow the dam as soon as they are hatched.

One is of a brownish yellow, marbled over with darker brown.

A second is of a greyish yellow, speckled over with small yellow and brown spots.







ANDALUSIAN QUAIL.

ANDALUSIAN HEMIPODE. GIBRALTAR QUAIL. ANDALUSIAN TURNIX. THREE-TOED QUAIL?

PLATE CXLV.

Hemipodius tachydromus, Hemipodius lunatus, Perdix Gibraltarica, Turnix tachydroma, Gould. Temminck. Latham. Meyer.

THE eggs of this species are of a rich light olive yellow, with handsome waved blots and marks larger and smaller all over of dark olive brown.

The figure on the plate is from a drawing of an egg then in Dr. Pitman's collection.

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has forwarded me a specimen with a white ground, speckled with small spots of light brown and blue, and a few larger spots of a very dark brown.







GREAT BUSTARD.

PLATE CXLVI.

Otis tarda,

PENNANT. MONTAGU.

THE bare earth is laid upon by this species. 'It is said that the Great Bustard will forsake her nest, if only once driven from it by apprehension of danger; but when the eggs are laid, and still more when the young are produced, it is only repeated meddling with them that will induce the parents to forsake them.'

The eggs, two in number, are of an olive brown colour, blotted with pale ferruginous and ash-coloured spots.

One variety is of a greyish green, with blots of brownish red and darker grey.

A second is of a light dull greyish green, with some dull spots of the same, and faint streaks and marks.

A third is of a darkish grey brown, with some large blots of a darker brown.







LITTLE BUSTARD.

LESSER BUSTARD.

PLATE CXLVII.

Otis tetrax,

PENNANT. MONTAGU.

THE nest is on the ground—a mere hollow, under the shelter of any sufficiently high herbage that may be proximate.

The eggs are said to be from three to five in number, olive brown in colour, sometimes varied with patches of a darker shade of brown.






PRATINCOLE.

COLLARED PRATINCOLE. AUSTRIAN PRATINCOLE.

PLATE CXLVIII.

Glareola torquata, Glareola Austriaca, Hirundo marina, Hirundo Pratincola, Meyer. Latham. Ray. Linnæus. Gmelin.

A SLIGHT depression in the soil serves for a nest, or it is placed, Selby says, among rushes or other thick herbage. Many nests are often made not far from each other.

The eggs, four in number, are spotted with brown.

One is of a light greenish ground, marked all over with brown spots, many of them run together in waved streaks.

A second is of a very light greyish green ground, irregularly marked over with darker and lighter brown spots and waves.

A third is of a pale yellowish green ground, with larger and smaller dark and light brown markings.

A fourth has a rich dark green ground, marked all over with dark blackish brown marks, spots, and streaks.

A fifth is a dull greenish brown ground, much marked and blotted all over with dark and light brown.

A sixth is a light dull yellowish green ground, thickly spotted, streaked, and marked all over with large and small dark brown spots and blots, more towards the larger end.

A seventh is of yellowish grey ground, marked all over with dark brown, yellowish green, and grey streaks and spots.

An eighth is a light yellowish grey ground, handsomely spotted all over with larger dark brown and smaller grey and yellowish spots.

VOL. II.

U

PRATINCOLE.

A ninth is of a dull yellowish ground, with large blots of dark brown, and greenish spots.

A tenth is paler yellowish, and not so largely marked.

J. R. De Capel Wise, Esq., of Lincoln College, Oxford, has forwarded me a specimen of the egg of this species.





GREAT PLOVER.

NORFOLK PLOVER. THICK-KNEED BUSTARD. STONE CURLEW. WHISTLING PLOVER. STONE PLOVER. THICK-KNEE. COMMON THICK-KNEE.

PLATE CXLIX.

Edicnemus crepitans, "Bellonii, Charadrius crepitans, "œdicnemus, Otis œdicnemus, Selby, Jenyns. Fleming. Montagu. Bewick. Linnæus. Gmelin. Pennant. Latham.

THE bare earth is the nest, among weather-worn stones. The male appears to sit as well as the female, the time of incubation being sixteen or seventeen days. The young are led about by the female almost as soon as hatched, that is to say, on the day following their birth: at first the old birds take great care of them.

The eggs are pale brown, blotted, spotted, and streaked with greyish blue and dark brown, assimilating closely in appearance to the grey flints that surround them, thus being very difficult to detect. They are generally two in number, but sometimes, it is said, three; the third being for the most part not hatched. They vary in size and colour, some being a dull yellow, and the spots much less clearly defined than in others.

One is of a brownish grey yellow, with large marks of dark greenish brown, and a few spots of the same, as well as with some specks of a lighter colour.

A second is of a light greyish, marked with some yellow marks, some spots of the same, and some bluish spots all over.

GREAT PLOVER.

A third is grounded with dull greyish yellow, handsomely marked with blots, dashes, and specks of brown, chiefly round the middle of the egg.

A fourth is of a dull greyish yellow, with large and smaller blots of dull brown.





GOLDEN PLOVER.

WHISTLING PLOVER. YELLOW PLOVER. GREEN PLOVER.

PLATE CL.

Charadrius pluvialis, Charadrius Africanus, PENNANT. MONTAGU. LINNÆUS.

NIDIFICATION commences about the end of May, or beginning of June. The hen bird alone sits. Incubation lasts seventeen days.

The nest, which I have never seen 'in situ,' is a very inartificial structure, being merely a few stems of grass and fibres laid together in some small hollow of the ground, only just large enough to contain them; what there is, is made the end of May, or beginning of June.

The eggs, four in number usually, are of a yellowish stone-colour, blotted and spotted with brownish black. They are placed quatrefoil —with the small ends pointed together inwards.

The young 'quit the nest as soon as hatched, and follow their parents till able to fly and support themselves, which is in the course of a month or five weeks.'

One variety is of a light reddish brown colour, handsomely marked with large blots of dark brown.

Another is of a yellowish ground, marked with large spots of a dark brown, principally towards the thicker end.

A third is of a light grey-coloured ground, with some large spots of dark brown, as well as a few smaller ones.

A fourth is of a grey colour, tinged with yellow, with a large blot of brown at the thicker end, and some smaller ones principally at the larger end.

GOLDEN PLOVER.

The fifth is of the same ground colour as the preceding, handsomely marked with large and small spots of brown, principally at the thicker end.

A sixth is of a rusty yellowish colour, mottled at the thick end with brown, and a few smaller spots all over, darker and lighter.





DOTTEREL.

DOTTRELL. DOTTEREL PLOVER.

PLATE CLI.

Charadrius morinellus, " Tataricus, " Sibiricus, PENNANT. MONTAGU. LATHAM. GMELIN.

ANY small hollow in the ground serves for a nest, and it is generally near some stone or rock; a few lichens make its 'mossy bed.' The male assists the female in the work of incubation, which lasts apparently for eighteen or twenty days. The hen bird sits very close, and if disturbed only runs a few yards off.

The eggs are three in number, seldom more. They are laid from the end of May and the beginning of June, to the end of June and even the beginning of July.

One variety is of a fine grey colour, blotted throughout with larger and smaller spots of brown, and a few dark grey ones.

Another is of a deep yellowish brown ground colour, spotted principally about the larger end with small dark reddish brown spots.







RINGED DOTTEREL.

RINGED PLOVER. SAND LARK. SAND LAVROCK. DULL-WILLY.

PLATE CLII.

Charadrius hiaticula,

PENNANT. MONTAGU.

THE nest, so to call it, for there is none but some slight natural hollow amongst small gravel, or on a little hillock of sand frequently under the shelter of some tall grass, is generally placed on a bank by the beach, just above high-water mark, but occasionally in sandy places far inland.

The eggs are four in number, and of a greenish grey, pale buff, or cream-colour, spotted and streaked with bluish grey and black, or blackish brown.

One variety is of a yellowish grey colour, spotted throughout with reddish brown spots, most of them small.

Another is of a very light yellowish grey ground, with some small spots and short streaks of brown, mostly at the larger end.

A third is dark grey, slightly tinged with yellow, spotted irregularly with larger and smaller black spots.

A fourth is of a grey ground colour, with numerous small blackish spots all over.

A fifth is of a whitish grey ground, with some larger and more distinct spots of black.

Χ.







LITTLE RINGED DOTTEREL.

LITTLE RING DOTTRELL. LITTLE RINGED PLOVER.

PLATE CLIII,-FIG. I.

Charadrius minor,

JENYNS. GOULD.

THE sand is its nest.

The eggs are of a pale yellowish stone-colour, with numerous small spots of bluish ash, reddish brown, and dark brown. The young are hatched in sixteen or seventeen days, and at once begin to run about, hiding themselves instinctively with much cleverness if endangered.

The figure on the plate is from an egg in the collection of Mr. Smith, of Yarmouth.

KENTISH DOTTEREL.

KENTISH PLOVER.

PLATE CLIII.-FIG. II.

Charadrius	Cantianus,	LATHAM. JARDINE.
**	Alexandrinus,	HASSELQUIST.
**	albifrons,	MEYER.
"	littoralis,	BECHSTEIN.

THE nest is placed on the shingle, or rather is actual shingle itself, or fine sand, any slight depression serving as a receptacle for the eggs; a few blades of grass or withered weeds may perchance afford a scanty lining.

The eggs are four in number, Mr. Gould, it is said erroneously, says five; they are of a yellowish colour, finely and much marked all over, but chiefly at and about the centre and base, with dark blackish brown. The bird rarely sits on the eggs during the day.

156





GREY PLOVER.

GREY SANDPIPER.

PLATE CLIV.

Squatarola cinerea, Vanellus griseus, Vanellus melanogaster, Tringa squatarola, Fleming. Selby. Gould. Jenyns. Temminck. Pennant. Montagu.

THE eggs are dark green, spotted irregularly with different shades of brown; the spots crowded and confluent round the obtuse end.

For the specimen of the egg from which the drawing for the plate was made, I am indebted to the Rev. H. B. Tristram, Perpetual Curate of Castle Eden, Durham. It was taken by himself in Finmark, in 1852.



PEEWIT.

PE-WIT. TE-WIT. LAPWING. COMMON LAPWING. CRESTED LAPWING. GREEN LAPWING. GREEN PLOVER. LAPWING SANDPIPER. FRENCH PIGEON.

PLATE CLV .- FIG. II.

Vanellus cristatus, Tringa vanellus, Fleming. Selby. Pennant. Montagu.

THE nest is that which 'Mother Earth' supplies by a small and slight depression in the soil, with the addition sometimes of a few bits of grass, heath, or rushes, and this perhaps answering to the geographical description of an island, 'entirely surrounded by water,' on the marshy ground. To avoid, however, the evils attendant on this contingency, a mole-hill or other slight eminence is often chosen for a cradle. The young are not capable of flying till nearly full-grown.

The eggs, which are, like those of most if not of all small birds, very delicate eating, and sold in immense numbers for the purpose, are four in number; and so disposed in their narrow bed, as to take up the smallest amount of room, the narrow ends pointed inwards, like the radii of a circle, to 'one common centre.' They vary to an extraordinary degree, though generally very much alike; some are blotted nearly all over with deep shades of brown. In general they are of a deep green colour, blotted and irregularly marked with brownish black. They are wide at one end and taper at the other, as is the case with the birds of this class. They are hatched in fifteen or sixteen days.

One variety is of a light yellowish olive ground colour, spotted and marked over with dark brown and grey.

A second is dark green, smeared over in some parts with a light greenish brown, and spotted over with very dark brownish black spots, and several large marks of the same.

PEEWIT.

A third is pale dull cream-coloured, with some rather large and some smaller blots, dots, and marks, of a rich dark brown, and a few light grey spots.

A fourth is of a very pale yellowish grey ground colour: it is spotted over with small spots of dull green and grey.

A fifth is a dull dark yellow ground, with large blots of dark brown, and a few smaller marks of the same.

A sixth is dull yellowish with a tinge of red, spotted and blotted over with dark reddish brown.





TURNSTONE.

COMMON TURNSTONE. HEBRIDAL SANDPIPER.

PLATE CLV .--- FIG. I.

Strepsilas interpres, Tringa interpres, Tringa morinella, Arenaria cinerea, Morinellus marinus, Fleming. Selby. Linnæus. Brisson. Ray.

THESE birds lay their eggs on sandy and rocky coasts, both where a stunted vegetation obtains, and where sterility alone is the characteristic of the scene. They appear to have no tie to any previously-tenanted situation, but choose a new residence, like other tribes, if so it suit them, year after year. The nest is sometimes placed under the shelter of a stone, rock, plant, or other break in the surface, and at other times on the mere rock, sand, or shingle. It is but some trifling hollow, natural or scraped out for the purpose, lined, perhaps, with a few dry blades of grass or leaves.

The eggs, four in number, vary much in colour and markings, some being of a green olive ground, and others of a brown olive colour; some much and others only a little spotted, principally about the obtuse end with dark grey, olive brown, and black, or reddish brown of two shades. They are cleverly concealed.

Mr. Hewitson says that all the eggs of this species that he met with in his visit to the coast of Norway, were suffused with a beautiful tint of purple or crimson, seen in those of few other species.






OYSTER-CATCHER.

PIED OYSTER-CATCHER. SEA PIE. OLIVE.

PLATE CLVI.

Hæmatopus ostralegus, Hæmatopus Belonii, Pennant, Montagu. Willughey.

THE nest is placed among gravel or stones, or among grass near the sea bank, in situations above high-water mark, where these materials of building are at hand, and the bird seems to be especially partial to a mixture of broken shells, which it carefully collects together and places in a slight hollow in the ground, using considerable care in their disposition. Several nests appear to be made, sometimes, before the architect can fashion one to give perfect satisfaction; many nests are also placed in contiguity to each other, intermixed too, it may be, with those of other aquatic birds. Some have been met with on the top of isolated rocks, at a height of from ten to fifteen feet from the ground. In lieu of shells small pieces of stone or gravel are selected, and the whiter they are the better they seem to please. Incubation lasts about three weeks.

The eggs are four in number, and of a yellowish stone-colour, spotted with grey, brown, and brownish black. They have been found variously in April, May, June, and July, so that it would appear that two broods are reared in the year. The eggs are disposed with their small ends inwards.

One is of a light greyish yellow, with dark brown marks all over, and some spots of the same.

A second is also of a dull greyish yellow, with thin streaks of brown, and some spots and marks of a darker brown and grey.

OYSTER-CATCHER.

A third is of a light yellowish brown, with dark blackish brown spots, and some lighter spots of the same, and some grey ones.

A fourth is of a light greyish yellow, handsomely marked with dark brown spots, chiefly at the larger end, a few only over the remainder of the surface.

A fifth is of a dark rich yellow, with some large dark brown blots and some smaller ones.

The ground part of a sixth is dark reddish brown, with large streaks of darker brown, with some spots.

END OF VOL. II.



December, 1885.

GEORGE BELL & SONS'

LIST OF WORKS

ON

BOTANY & NATURAL HISTORY.

THE LIBRARY OF NATURAL HISTORY.

THIS uniform series of Works on the various branches of Natural History has attained a high reputation, both for the low prices at which they are published and the general excellence with which they are produced. They form collectively a Standard Set of Works on the different subjects which they illustrate, and deserve the attention of all who study this branch of science for their faithful illustrations and accuracy of description; the plates being carefully executed by accomplished artists, and the authorship entrusted to writers of acknowledged merit. Indeed no higher testimony can be borne to their value than the fact that the late Prince Consort (himself an able student of Natural History) so highly esteemed those which were published during his lifetime that he purchased copies of them for presentation to public institutions.

New Edition, with Additions.

DEDICATED BY PERMISSION TO HER MOST GRACIOUS MAJESTY THE QUEEN.

A HISTORY OF BRITISH BIRDS.

By the REV. F. O. MORRIS, B.A., Member of the Ashmolean Society. Illustrated with 365 coloured Engravings. Six Volumes, super-royal 8vo., £6 6s.

In this work the author has amassed information from every reliable source, and in addition to necessary scientific details, he has interspersed throughout his pages a vast fund of anecdotes, illustrative of the marvellous instincts and peculiar habits of the feathered inhabitants of our land, and has thus made his work at once entertaining and instructive, and in the widest sense a 'History of British Birds.'

New Edition, Enlarged.

A NATURAL HISTORY OF THE NESTS AND EGGS OF BRITISH BIRDS. By the Rev. F. O. MORRIS, B.A. Illustrated with 233 coloured Plates. In Three Volumes, super-royal 8vo., £3 3s.

Designed as a supplement to the 'History of British Birds,' this work gives the fullest information respecting the localities and construction of their nests, the number and peculiarities of their eggs, and all the instruction requisite for determining to what species they belong. Each egg is figured and minutely described, and a number of nests are accurately drawn from specimens. A New and Revised Edition now ready.

A HISTORY OF THE BIRDS OF EUROPE,

NOT OBSERVED IN THE BRITISH ISLES. By C. R. BREE, M.D., F.Z.S. Illustrated with 238 coloured Plates of Birds and Eggs. In Five Volumes, super-royal 8vo., £5 5s.

This work forms an appropriate supplement to Morris, Yarrell, or any other work on British Birds, and with any of them forms a comprehensive account of the Ornithology of Europe. In addition to the personal ability of the Author for his task, he has had the assistance of many eminent Continental naturalists, among whom are Professors Blasius of Brunswick, Schlegel of Leyden, M. de Selys-Longchamps, and M. Moquin-Tandon.

'Dr. Bree is favourably known to ornithologists by numerous contributions to our zoological periodicals, in all of which there is found the same genial spirit, and the same tone of good feeling, kindliness, and reverence, which pervade the present work. . . . The figures are, for the most part, highly satisfactory, and leave us in wonder how they could be produced, in combination with the full and copious text, for so small a price.'—Athenœum.

New Edition, Enlarged.

A HISTORY OF BRITISH BUTTERFLIES.

By the REV. F. O. MORRIS, B.A. Illustrated with 72 beautifully-coloured Plates. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 1s.

With coloured illustrations of all the species, and separate figures of the male and female, where there is any obvious difference between them, and also of the under side, together with the Caterpillar and Chrysalis; and a full description of each, with copious accounts of their several habits, localities, and times of appearance, together with details as to their preservation, etc., with new and valuable information—the result of the author's experience for many years.

A NATURAL HISTORY OF BRITISH MOTHS.

Accurately delineating every known species, with the English as well as the scientific names, accompanied by full descriptions, date of appearance, lists of the localities they haunt, their food in the caterpillar state, and other features of their habits and modes of existence, &c. By the Rev. F. O. MORRIS, B.A. The Plates contain nearly 2,000 exquisitely coloured Specimens. In Four Volumes, royal 8vo., price £6 6s.

'Speaking of entomology, we should place Mr. Morris' "History of British Moths" at the head. It gives a coloured figure of every known British moth, together with dates of appearance, localities, description, and food of caterpillar. It forms a handsome work for a library, and will, we should hope, lead many to commence the fascinating study of entomology.'-The Record.

BEAUTIFUL-LEAVED PLANTS.

Describing the most beautiful-leaved Plants in cultivation in this country. By E. J. LOWE, ESQ., F.R.S., F.R.A.S., assisted by W. HOWARD, F.H.S. Illustrated with 60 coloured Illustrations. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 1s.

'In this volume we have a description of a large number of stove, conservatory, and garden plants cultivated in this country, of which the leaves rather than the flowers are objects of interest. The exquisite and delicate forms of many ornamental plants common to the hothouses and greenhouses of the wealthy are here depicted, with wonderful fidelity, in a series of beautiful illustrations in the natural colour of the plants.'—The Bookseller.

NEW AND RARE BEAUTIFUL-LEAVED PLANTS.

By SHIRLEY HIBBERD, F.R.H.S. Illustrated with 54 coloured Engravings. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 1s.

'A bit of information as to the pictures may be acceptable. First, observe the tinting of the leaves, and the groundwork of such a subject as Solanum marginatum as a sample of the whole. Then accept the information that these pictures are not chromo-lithographs, not coloured by hand; they are all, from first to last, wood engravings, and we imagine, but cannot of course express any opinion on the subject, that as works of art, representative of the present state of an important industry, they are not simply interesting, but remarkable.'—Gardeners' Chronicle.

OUR NATIVE FERNS AND THEIR VARIETIES.

By E. J. Lowe, Esq., F.R.S., F.R.A.S., &c. Illustrated with 79 coloured Plates and 909 Wood Engravings. In Two Volumes, royal 8vo., price £2 2s.

The importance and value of this work may be inferred from the fact that it contains descriptions of 1294 varieties of British Ferns, with seventy-nine coloured plates of species and varieties, and 909 wood engravings. The descriptions are written in a popular manner, containing much interesting information. The localities are described, each synonym given, and a description of the proper method of cultivation. To show the extent and value of the illustrations it may be mentioned, that of *Scolopendrium vulgare* alone there are one hundred and eighty-four varieties figured.

NATURAL HISTORY OF BRITISH AND EXOTIC FERNS

By E. J. Lowe, Esq., F.R.S., F.R.A.S., &c. Illustrated with 479 finely coloured Plates. In Eight Volumes, super-royal 8vo., price £6 6s.

'A book which should contain ample means of studying and identifying the Exotic species accessible to persons of moderate means, has hitherto been a desideratum. This want the present work promises most hopefully to fill. It is admirably "got up;" the plates are care-fully and prettily executed; there is a neat illustrative woodcut at the head of each description, and the letterpress is full and practical, without being deficient in scientific accuracy. It is really the cheapest work for its excellence we have ever seen, and should be "in the hands of every gardener and every private person who cultivates these charming objects." "-Athenaeum

A NATURAL HISTORY OF NEW AND RARE FERNS.

Containing Species and Varieties not included in 'Ferns, British and Exotic.' By E. J. Lowe, Esq., F.R.S., F.R.A.S., &c. Illustrated with 72 coloured Plates and numerous Woodcuts. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 1s.

'Although the "Natural History of British and Exotic Ferns" contains coloured illustrations of between five and six hundred species of Ferns cultivated in this country, still so many new ones have been introduced, that it has been deemed necessary to publish a separate volume. This work will be found to contain coloured plates or woodcut illustrations of one hundred and fifty-one new species, or new varieties of species that have been already figured in the preceding volumes.'-Preface.

A NATURAL HISTORY OF BRITISH GRASSES.

By E. J. LOWE, Esq., F.R.S., F.R.A.S., &c. Illustrated with 74 finelycoloured Plates. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 1s.

This is a work not only valuable to the botanical student for its pictorial accuracy, but of use also to the landed proprietor and the farmer, pointing out to them those grasses which are useful and lucrative in husbandry, and teaching them the varied soils and positions upon which they thrive, and explaining their qualities and the several uses to which they are applied in many branches of manufacture and industry. There is much interesting matter also in this volume appertaining to the ancient customs and superstitions connected with the subject, which the author brings before his reader in a forcible rather than in a prolix style.

'It is very faithful, and marvellously cheap, considering the beautiful manner in which it is produced.'-Literary Record.

MAUND'S BOTANIC GARDEN.

Consisting of highly-finished Figures of Hardy Ornamental Flowering Plants Cultivated in Great Britain, with their Names, Orders, History, Qualities, Culture, and Physiological Observations. By B. MAUND, F.L S. New Edition, edited by JAMES C. NIVEN, Curator of the Botanic Gardens, Hull. With 250 Coloured Plates, giving 1247 figures. In Six Volumes, super-royal 8vo., £12 12s.

BRITISH SEA-WEEDS.

Drawn from Professor Harvey's 'Phycologia Britannica.' With Descriptions, an Amateur's Synopsis, Rules for Laying on Sea-weeds, an Order for Arranging them in the Herbarium, and an Appendix of New Species. By Mrs. ALFRED GATTY. Illustrated with 80 coloured Plates, containing 384 figures. In Two Volumes, super-royal 8vo., price £2 10s.

'Those who are acquainted with Mrs. Gatty's "Parables from Nature," and especially with her delightful Parable about "Red Snow," need not be told that the literary part has been ably executed by a competent and loving observer. In her present work she has endeavoured, and we think most successfully, to translate the terms and phrases of science into the language of amateurs. Mrs. Gatty's familiarity with the plants themselves has enabled her to do this office without falling into the errors to which a mere compiler in separating from the beaten track would be liable."—Gardeners' Chronicle.

ALPINE PLANTS.

Descriptions and 103 accurately-coloured Figures (drawn and engraved expressly for this Work) of some of the most striking and beautiful of the Alpine Flowers. Edited by DAVID WOOSTER, joint editor of the latest editions of Loudon's 'Encyclopædias of Gardening and Plants,' 'Hortus Britannicus,' &c. In One Volume, super-royal 8vo., price £1 5s.

'The letterpress is full, no doubt, of the most accurate botanical learning, but what we have to speak of more particularly are the illustrations, and these strike us as among the best specimens of wood-block printing. There is about them none of that plastered gaudiness, that thick and sticky style in which too often the wood-engraver endeavours to paint the lily. A crocus seems just to have thrust itself through the brown soil which the thaw has softened.'-Times.

ALPINE PLANTS.

SECOND SERIES. Containing Fifty-four Coloured Plates, with one or two Figures on each Plate. Descriptions and accurately-coloured Figures (drawn and engraved expressly for this Work) of the most striking and beautiful of the Alpine Plants. Edited by DAVID WOOSTER. Price £1 5s.

BRITISH MOSSES.

Their Homes, Aspects, Structure, and Uses. Containing a Coloured Figure of each species, etched from Nature. By F. E. TRIPP. Illustrated with 39 beautifully-coloured Plates. In Two Volumes, super-royal 8vo., £2 10s.

'It is a book to read, to ponder, to mark, learn, and inwardly digest. . . Let those who want to know the "moral" of mosses enquire within the covers of the volume. He will there find that these humble plants have their uses, their virtues, and their mission.'—Morning Advertiser.

PARROTS IN CAPTIVITY.

By W. T. GREENE, M.A., M.D., F.Z.S. With Notes on several species by The Hon. and Rev. F. G. DUTTON. Illustrated with Coloured Plates. Vols. I. and II., super-royal 8vo., price 12s. 6d. each.

HISTORY OF THE FISHES OF THE BRITISH ISLANDS.

By JONATHAN COUCH, F.L.S.. Illustrated with 256 carefully coloured Plates. New Edition, in Four Volumes, super-royal 8vo., price £4 4s.

'The author, who is well known as one of the first practical authorities on British fishes, has for fifty years been observing, noting, and drawing, with his own pencil, the various fish which live in British waters—a vast labour, in which he has been assisted by scientific friends living in various portions of the United Kingdom. The drawings are beautifully coloured to life, and some of the *portraits* (especially of the dog-fish) are really marvellous, rendering the recognition of a fish a work of the greatest ease.'—The Field.

BRITISH FRESH-WATER FISHES.

By the Rev. W. HOUGHTON, M.A., F.L.S. Illustrated with a Coloured Figure of each species, drawn from Nature by A. F. Lydon, and numerous Engravings, representing fishing scenes. In One Volume, imperial 4to., cloth, gilt edges, price £3 10s.

'The magnificent work of the Rev. W. Houghton on "British Fresh-Water Fishes," in which each fish is exquisitely coloured......The work is well worthy of the support of every British angler.'- The Fishing Gazette.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY:

Containing a Description and Life-size coloured Drawing of every British Plant. Edited and brought up to the Present Standard of Scientific Knowledge by T. Boswell, (formerly SYME,) LL.D. F.L.S. &c. With Popular Descriptions of the Uses, History, and Traditions of each Plant, by Mrs. LANKESTER, Author of 'Wild Flowers Worth Notice,' 'The British Ferns,' &c. The Figures by J. E. SOWERBY, JAMES SOWERBY, F.L.S., J. DE C. SOWERBY, F.L.S., and J. W. SALTER, A.L.S. In Eleven Volumes, with 1824 full-page coloured plates, super-royal 8vo. (For prices see p. 7.) Vol. XII. containing the Cryptogamous Plants and an Index to the whole work. In Seven Parts, 5s. each. Part I. immediately.

'Under the editorship of T. Boswell Syme, F.L.S., assisted by Mrs. Lankester, "Sowerby's English Botany," when finished, will be exhaustive of the subject, and worthy of the branch of science it illustrates. . . . In turning over the charmingly executed hand-coloured plates of British plants which encumber these volumes with riches, the reader cannot help being struck with the beauty of many of the humblest flowering weeds we tread on with careless step. We cannot dwell upon many of the individuals grouped in the splendid bouquet of flowers presented in these pages, and it will be sufficient to state that the work is pledged to contain a figure of every wild flower indigenous to these isles."—*The Times*.

'The most complete Flora of Great Britain ever brought out. This great work will find a place wherever botanical science is cultivated, and the study of our native plants, with all their fascinating associations, held dear.'—Athenœum.

'Nothing can exceed the beauty and accuracy of the coloured figures. They are drawn life-size—an advantage which every young amateur will recognise who has vainly puzzled over drawings in which a celandine is as big as a poppy—they are enriched with delicate delineations of fruit, petal, anther, and any organ which happens to be remarkable in its form—and not a few plates are altogether new. . . A clear, bold distinctive type enables the reader to take in at a glance the arrangement and divisions of every page. And Mrs. Lankester has added to the technical description by the editor an extremely interesting popular sketch, which follows in smaller type. The English, French, and German popular names are given, and, wherever that delicate and difficult step is at all practicable, their derivation also. Medical properties, superstitions, and fancies, and poetic tributes and illusions, follow. In short, there is nothing more left to be desired.'-Guardian.

'Without question, this is the standard work on Botany, and indispensable to every botanist. . . The plates are most accurate and beautiful, and the entire work cannot be too strongly recommended to all who are interested in Botany.'-Illustrated News.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. I. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Ranunculaceæ, Berberidaceæ, Nymphæaceæ, Papaveraceæ, and Cruciferæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. II. contains-

All the plants ranked under the orders Resedaceæ, Cistaceæ, Violaceæ, Droseraceæ, Polygalaceæ, Frankeniaceæ, Carophyllaceæ, Portulacaceæ, Tamariscaceæ, Elatinaceæ, Hypericaceæ, Malvaceæ, Tiliaceæ, Linaceæ, Geraniaceæ, Ilicineæ, Celastraceæ, Rhamnaceæ, Sapindaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. III. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Leguminiferæ and Rosaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. IV. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Lythraceæ, Onagraceæ, Cucurbitaceæ, Grossulariaceæ, Crassulaceæ, Saxifragaceæ, Umbilliferæ, Araliaceæ, Cornaceæ, Loranthaceæ, Caprifoliaceæ, Rubiaceæ, Valerianaceæ, and Dipsaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. V. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the order Compositæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. VI. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Campanulaceæ, Ericaceæ, Jasminaceæ, Apocynaceæ, Gentianaceæ, Polemoniaceæ, Convolvulaceæ, Solanaceæ, Scrophulariaceæ, Orobanchaceæ, and Verbenaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. VII. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Labiatæ, Boraginaceæ, Lentibulariaceæ, Primulaceæ, Plumbaginaceæ, Plantaginaceæ, Paronychiaceæ, and Amarantaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. VIII. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Chenopodiaceæ, Polygonaceæ, Eleganaceæ, Thymelaceæ, Santalaceæ, Aristolochiaceæ, Empetraceæ, Euphorbiaceæ, Callitrichaceæ, Ceratophyllaceæ, Urticaceæ, Amentiferæ, and Coniferæ. (7)

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. IX. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Typhaceæ, Araceæ, Lemnaceæ, Naiadaceæ, Alismaceæ, Hydrocharidaceæ, Orchidaceæ, Iridæceæ, Amaryllidaceæ, Diascoreaceæ, and Liliaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. X. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the orders Juncaceæ and Cyperaceæ.

SOWERBY'S ENGLISH BOTANY, Vol. XI. contains-

All the Plants ranked under the order Graminaceæ.

Bound cloth. Half morocco. Morocco eleg	ant.
£ s. d. £ s. d. £ s. d.	
Vol. 1. (Seven Parts) 118 0 2 2 0 2 8 6	
Vol. 2. ditto 1 18 0 2 2 0 2 8 6	
Vol. 3. (Eight Parts) 2 3 0 2 7 0 2 13 6	
Vol. 4. (Nine Parts) 2 8 0 2 12 0 2 18 6	
Vol. 5. (Eight Parts) 2 3 0 2 7 0 2 13 6	
Vol. 6. (Seven Parts) 118 0 2 2 0 2 8 6	
Vol. 7. ditto 118 0 2 2 0 2 8 6	
Vol. 8. (Ten Parts) 2 13 0 2 17 0 3 3 6	
Vol. 9. (Seven Parts) 118 0 2 2 0 2 8 6	
Vol., 10. ditto 1 18 0 2 2 .0 2 8 6	
Vol. 11. (Six Parts) 1 13 0 1 17 0 2 3 6	

Or, the Eleven Volumes, £22 Ss. in cloth; £24 12s. in half morocco; and £28 3s. 6d. whole morocco. Also in 83 Parts, 5s. each.

A Supplementary Volume, containing Ferns and other Cryptogami, in preparation by PROFESSOR BOSWELL (formerly SYME.)

THE COTTAGE-GARDENER'S DICTIONARY.

Describing the Plants, Fruits, and Vegetables desirable for the Garden, and explaining the Terms and Operations employed in their cultivation. With a Supplement containing all the new Plants and Varieties to the year 1881. Edited by GEORGE W. JOHNSON, Editor of the 'Journal of Horticulture and Cottage Gardener.' Post Svo., cloth, 7s. 6d. The Supplement separately, sewed, 1s. 6d.

'This is perhaps the most perfect work of its kind that has yet been published, and is invaluable to professed gardeners and amateurs. It is scientific, and yet every purely scientific or Latin term is explained, so that the less highly educated in botany may obtain an intelligent knowledge of names and varieties. It is practical and full of directions as to the growth of plants, fruits, and vegetables; and contains descriptions and illustrations of predatory insects, which will be found interesting as well as useful. The editor has had the advantage of having been able to engage the services of a number of practical and scientific gardeners in different parts of England, so that his dictionary has a value which no mere compiler or theorist could pretend to give.'—Tablet.

'If copiousness be a lexicographical merit, then must this dictionary be said to rank high. It is literally cramful of information. . . . Its miscellaneous essays are numerous and the work of skilful hands. Of its price we are ignorant, but we may believe the editor when he states it to be the cheapest work of the kind ever issued from the press.'-Leader.

RAMBLES IN SEARCH OF WILD FLOWERS, and How to Distinguish Them.

By MARGARET PLUES, Author of 'Rambles in Search of Flowerless Plants,' 'British Grasses,' &c. With 96 coloured figures and numerous cuts. Third Edition, large post 8vo., 7s. 6d.

'This little book has already, we are pleased to note, attained its third edition. We sincerely wish it that continuance of public favour which it so well deserves.'-Saturday Review.

MRS. LOUDON'S FIRST BOOK OF BOTANY.

Being a Plain and Brief Introduction to that Science for Schools and Young People. New Edition, revised and enlarged, by David Wooster, joint editor of Loudon's 'Encyclopædia of Plants,' Loudon's 'Hortus Britannicus,' &c., with numerous Engravings. Fcap. 8vo. 2s. 6d.

CONTENTS:--Chap. I. On the Elementary Organs of Plants.--Chap. II. The Parts into which Plants are Divided by Botanists.--Chap. III. The Natural Divisions of Plants.--Chap. IV. Botanical Classifications.--Index and Glossary.

THE BOTANIST'S POCKET-BOOK.

By W. R. HAYWARD. Containing, arranged in a tabulated form, the chief characteristics of British Plants. Fcap. Svo. flexible binding for the pocket, Third Edition Revised, 4s. 6d.

This Volume is intended as a handy Pocket Companion for the Botanist in the field, and will enable him to identify on the spot the plants he may meet with in his researches. Besides the characteristics of species and varieties, it contains the Botanical name, Common name, Soil or Situation, Colour, Growth, and time of Flowering of every plant, arranged under its own order.

'A book of modest pretensions and not without its value. . . Occupying not much over two hundred pages of paper in limp cloth binding, it will be no great burden to the pocket or knapsack, and may frequently be usefully resorted to by a young botanist on the tramp, leaving more careful study till he gets home.'—Nature.

'The diagnoses seem framed with considerable care and judgment, the characteristics having been well selected and contrasted.'-Journal of Botany.

MY GARDEN: ITS PLAN AND CULTURE.

Together with a General Description of its Geology, Botany, and Natural History. By the late ALFRED SMEE, F.R.S. Illustrated with more than 1500 Engravings on Wood. Second Edition, revised, imperial 8vo. 21s.

'Mr. Smee seems to be a gardener of the true school. His tastes lead him to cultivate almost every kind of hardy plants, and there are so many pretty figures of these in his pages as to make the book worth having for their sakes alone......As a sort of recital of the pure pleasure and interest which even an otherwise busily occupied gentleman may derive from his garden, the book is of much value.'—*Field*.

'As for the illustrations they are simply perfect......Lovers of gardens and lovers of art will join in prizing this book and in gratitude to Mr. Smee and to those who have so ably and faithfully seconded his aim.'-Graphic.

'This book......has the merit of careful observation and a love for the common objects of nature which are too often disregarded because they are common.'-Pall Mall Gazette.

'Decidedly an interesting and useful work. It abounds in information on a variety of points which the lover of a good garden finds it necessary to know, but for which he does not know where to turn.'-Lancet.

LONDON : GEORGE BELL & SONS, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.







